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Metta Welfare Association (Metta) 
was founded in 1992 by Venerable 
Shi Fa Zhao, Abbot of the Golden 
Pagoda Buddhist Temple. He is also 
the President and Abbot of the 
Buddha Tooth Relic Temple and 
Museum.
 Registered as a society in 1994, 
Metta is endorsed by the Ministry of 
Community Development, Youth 
and Sports (MCYS), Ministry of Health 
(MOH) and Ministry of Education 
(MOE). We are also members of the 
National Council of Social Service 
(NCSS), Singapore Hospice Council 
and Singapore Disability Sports 
Council.

VISION
In accordance with The Great 
Compassionate Vows of The Buddha 
of Medicine, Metta aims to provide 
healthcare and welfare services 
for the needy and less fortunate, 
regardless of race or religion.

MISSION AND OBJECTIVES
Dedicated to the active promotion of 
humanitarian causes, Metta initiates, 
assists and organises a wide range of 
community projects. Our objectives 
are:
• To provide accessible and 

affordable medical care to the 
less fortunate – home hospice 
care for the terminally ill and day 
rehabilitative services for elderly 
and stroke patients

• To provide disability care, respite 
care, residential care and training 
for the intellectually disabled

• To provide special education 
and training for children with mild 
intellectual disability and/or autism

• To provide community care services 
for the elderly, students and 
children

• To develop and provide such 
forms of medical care and 
welfare services as required by the 
communityAbout Us 

ਈ᎖ࠢ਒
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Playing a pivotal role in realising our 
mission are nine welfare centres 
and a social enterprise that are 
located islandwide. Currently serving 
939 beneficiaries, the centres are 
segregated into the following areas:

DISABILITY CARE 
• Metta Day Activity Centre for 

the Intellectually Disabled (a day 
care centre for the intellectually 
disabled)

• Metta Home for the Disabled (a 
residential home for the disabled)

• Metta Home Day Activity Centre (a 
day care centre for the disabled) 

MEDICAL CARE
• Metta Day Rehabilitation Centre 

for the Elderly (a day rehabilitation 
centre for elderly and stroke 
patients) 

• Metta Hospice Care (home hospice 
care for the terminally ill)

CHILDREN CARE
• Metta PreSchool @Simei and 

Punggol (preschools that offer early 
intervention programmes to young 
children aged three to six with 
special needs)

• SE CDC - Metta Student Care 
Centre

 

Our 
Centres 
এၢᒦቦ

SPECIAL EDUCATION 
• Metta School (a special education 

school for children aged 7 to 18 
with mild intellectual disability and/
or autism)

SOCIAL ENTERPRISE 
• Happy Arts Enterprise Ltd (a social 

enterprise that creates vocational 
training and employment 
opportunities for adolescents 
aged 18 and above from special 
education schools)

 From the young to the elderly, 
the infirm to the terminally ill, we 
transcend racial and religious barriers 
to enhance their quality of life. A 
challenging task it is but our driving 
force comes from the satisfaction of 
seeing them receive proper care and 
lead fulfilling lives. We take pride in 
our ability to offer a comprehensive 
range of services that goes 
beyond the mere fulfillment of their 
requirements.
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2010 was a blessed year for us as the 
economy made rapid progress from 
the global recession from the previous 
year.  However, we are indeed 
heartened that despite the volatile 
economy ahead, many of regular 
donors and sponsors stood firm and 
had never relented as our pillars of 
support. 
 With a boost in our resources and 
funds, we were able to reach out to 
more beneficiaries providing them 
with better services and facilities. 

CARING FOR OUR CLIENTS
In June 2010, we officially opened 
a second preschool in Punggol with 
a capacity to care for 132 children 
and to help more young children 
with special needs through our early 
intervention programmes. In all, 

President’s 
Message
ᓍᇳማࠤ

youths with life skills that promote 
integration, independence and 
employment. With the assistance 
and recommendation of Community 
Chest, we managed to acquire 
a retail unit at Suntec City Mall to 
display the products done by our 
alumni youths for sale and also 
conduct art demonstrations and batik 
painting workshops.
 Another supporting friend of ours 
is biopharmaceuticals supplier Baxter 
Healthcare (Asia) Pte Ltd, which 
had adopted Arts@Metta as part of 
their corporate social responsibility 
initiative. Given these resources to 
work with, we are confident that we 
will be able reap good yields from our 
efforts. 
 Apart from our growth in 
the education sector, the Metta 
Day Rehabilitation Centre had 
recently upgraded its facilities and 
equipments and completed a major 
renovation in July 2011, the first in 10 
years with our own funds. Besides 
reconstructing the centre, we also 
bought numerous new exercise 
equipments to assist our clients in their 
physiological therapies.
 Having come so far, we are 
extremely grateful to receive support 
from our numerous donors, sponsors 

Metta  is now able to provide a broad 
spectrum of services for 1,000 clients 
across 9 centres. 
 These would not have been 
possible without the support and 
cooperation from the Ministry of 
Community Development, Youth and 
Sports, Ministry of Education, Ministry 
of Health and National Council of 
Social Service.
 As for Metta School, we have 
commenced the construction of 
the annexe building in June 2011 
to increase its capacity to provide 
more facilities for our special needs 
students’ use. 
 Looking forward, we are 
enhancing our outreach and services 
to the Metta School’s graduates, 
including an employment support 
centre, so that they can continue to 
receive assistance. 
 However, it  would not have been 
possible for us to make this huge 
leap forward without the support 
from Temasek Cares, which will 
be pledging $150,000 towards this 
‘Employment Support Center for 2 
years. We are extremely grateful for 
their support.
 We are also expanding our 
exclusive in-house brand, Arts@Metta 
which aims to equip special needs 
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and CSR partners, as we would 
not have managed if not for their 
encouragement, participation and 
generosity. 
 We are especially heartened by 
the display of strong support from the 
volunteers of Standard Chartered 
Bank, Singapore Pools, Land Transport 
Authority Singapore, XL Insurance 
and Siemens Pte Ltd who took time 
off their busy schedules to organise 
activities for our beneficiaries.

HIGH STANDARD OF GOVERNANCE
Being an Institute of Public Character, 
we are constantly required to ensure 
a high standard of governance, 
fund-raising practice and financial 
accountability. To maintain our 
quality benchmarks,  we will continue 
to update our ISO certification and 
the requirements of the revised 
Code of Governance. Likewise, 
our financial report is prepared in 
accordance to the new Charities 
Accounting Standard. We hope this 
would enhance the trust in our various 
stakeholders and public confidence 
in us.  

ORGANISATIONAL ENHANCEMENTS
As for the administrative end, we 
have upgraded our systems to 

enhance their accountability and 
transparency. The new systems, 
Exchequer and CHARMS, will 
facilitate accounting works for 
our organisation, while allowing 
higher level of transparency for 
our donors and clients through the 
systems’ integration. With these 
cost-effective implementations, we 
believe the productivity will increase 
in our operations. Thus, we hope our 
logistical efforts would establish a 
stronger faith in us among our clients 
and stakeholders. 
 Furthermore, noting the 
necessity of being visible on the 
virtual platform as the masses are 
fast becoming reliant on online 
information, we have made a bold 
move forward to elevate Metta to a 
new arena. Hence, to enable a wider 
outreach, we are in the process of 
revamping our corporate website 
and embarking on the social media 
networks such as Facebook and an 
online blog. The upgraded systems 
will also value-add to our endeavours 
in the social media sphere.

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT
Needless to say, we do not forget our 
friendships with the various grassroots 
organisations we have been 

working with. To maintain our close 
working relations, we will continue 
to partake in their various activities 
and programmes. We appreciate 
the strong cooperation and support 
from this group of people as they 
have helped make the provision of 
our services more relevant to the 
community. 
 I would like to convey my 
sincerest thanks to the members of 
the Management Committee and 
the various committees for their 
counsel and guidance, numerous 
volunteers for their time and efforts, 
and staff who work tirelessly to 
achieve the organisation’s mission. 
 With Triple Gems’ blessings,
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Executive 
Director’s 
Message
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a Wii game console for the alumni 
members’ social and recreational 
needs. In the pipeline are mentorship, 
befriending programmes, training 
resources and team activities.
 We are also in the midst of setting 
up an Employment Support Centre 
for our Metta School’s graduates 
to ensure they have sufficient help 
in getting jobs upon graduation. 
Being an educator for special needs 
students, we see the need to nurture 
them beyond providing classroom 
lessons. 

2010 had been a relatively blessed 
year for Metta following the 
economic recovery. Riding on our 
available resources, we managed 
to reach out to more people this 
year. On top of that, a handful of 
our centres are fortunate to undergo 
upgrading of facilities and some 
adopt enhanced services.

IMPROVED OPERATIONS
Metta PreSchool @Punggol has 
officially commenced its operations 
in June 2010, providing early 
intervention programmes for children 
aged three to six, with mild to 
moderate autism spectrum disorders 
(ASD) and/or intellectual disabilities. 

Currently having a total headcount of 
50 children, we are working towards 
utilising the facilities to cater up to 132 
children in the near future. 
 Our Metta School is currently 
looking forward to the completion 
of the annexe, which is extended 
from the existing building. Having the 
piling and ground works commenced 
in June 2011, both our students and 
staff will be anticipating enhanced 
facilities and resources in the school 
within the next few years. We hope to 
bring about more fruitful results in the 
students’ learning as we put in efforts 
to meet their various training and 
developmental needs. 
 To further equip our students with 
practical lifelong skills, we are also 
stepping up in our vocational training. 
The Metta School’s students are now 
attending an extra vocational lesson 
every week from the start of 2011 to 
refine their skills like housekeeping and 
cooking.   
 Not neglecting our Metta School 
graduates who have completed 
their education and left school, 
we also strengthened our efforts 
by expanding the existing Alumni 
Services we provide. A small 
sanctuary has recently been set up to 
house facilities like computers, TV and 
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 We believe our duty to these 
students does not end at the point 
of their graduation. Hence the 
purpose of this centre is to assist our 
graduates at our very best to see 
them through the next stage of their 
lives – into the working world. To prep 
our graduates, they will also receive 
training on soft skills and financial 
management skills, and career 
counselling to ensure they are well-
equipped to take on a job.
 Speaking of providing our 
students with more employment 
opportunities, we have recently 
opened a flagship store for our in-
house label, Arts@Metta, at Suntec 
City Mall. Since the establishment 
of Arts@Metta in 2007, our artistic 
alumni youths have been working 
hard to polish their craftsmanship at 
the arts studio located within Metta 
headquarters. At last, their hard work 
has paid off; under the support of 
Community Chest, we have secured 
a rent-free unit at the shopping 
mall to showcase their exquisite 
handicrafts. As the unit comes with 
an attached vestibule, the alumni will 
also be utilising the area to conduct 
batik painting workshops and art 
demonstrations. 

RECEIVING FROM OUR KIND 
DONORS
In order to have an adequate pool of 
resources to meet our organisational 
mission, which is to provide for the 
less fortunate, is always a challenge. 
Nonetheless, we have been very 
privileged to be constantly supported 
by kind givers of the society, 
regardless of how bad the times can 
be. With a continuous flow of revenue 
collected from our events in the 
past financial year, we were glad to 
maintain a healthy stream of funds. 
 On 8 October 2010, we have 
organised the 13th successful Metta 
Charity Banquet. We were honoured 
to engage the expertise of Huo 
Yow Cooks’ Association, out of pure 
charitable contribution, to whip up a 
feast for us for the event. Furthermore, 
the association collaborated with 
us to produce a commemorative 
booklet containing the recipes of the 
delectable dishes served during the 
banquet. The booklets were retailed 
to raise funds for Metta, all in the 
name of philanthropy. 
 Moving on to 2011, Metta School 
celebrated its 10th anniversary 
milestone with a Family Day cum 
Carnival on 30 April. I am extremely 
proud of the school’s achievements 

and would like to take this opportunity 
to thank all the donors and supporters 
who had contributed to the school in 
some ways.  
 The Buddhist Culture Department 
also saw pleasing results during the 
year in review. Like a proud parent, 
I am extremely uplifted to watch 
the department under my care 
gradually grow. The dharma classes 
and other activities organised were 
more popular in the fiscal year of 
2010/2011, as shown in the rate of 
participation, compared to the 
previous years. Furthermore, we 
managed to extend our outreach 
through the increased number of 
activities and events this year. 
 I hereby extend my utmost 
gratitude to our numerous donors, 
sponsors, corporate partners, 
volunteers, well wishers, committee 
members, staff and families for their 
unstinting support and unwavering 
encouragement.
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Metta Committees
ࠢ਒ᆕᏋ્



Introduction 
简介

9



Introduction 
简介

10



Introduction 
简介

11



Introduction 
简介

12



Introduction 
简介

13

Metta Headquarters
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1st row (from left)

Mr Abdul Aziz Bin Othman,  Ms Annie See Leng Ean, Mr Koh Tong Chea, Ven Shi Dang Cheng, Ven Shi Pu En, 
Ven Shi Jie Hui, Mr Ee Tiang Hwee, Ms Felicia Wee Sok Pheng, Mr John Num Lit Guan 
2nd row (from left)

Mr Roy Lim Beng Chai, Mr Chan Mun Kiat, Mr Poh Hou Shun, Ms Neo Ai Chin, Mr Omar Bin Ahmad,                 
Ms Pauline Cheong Mei Ling, Ms Catherine Wong Siong Yin, Ms Tan Mui Tin, Ms Elizabeth Boon Yong Phin, 
Mr Teo Chin Teck
3rd row (from left)

Mr Shawn Ng Ee Huei, Ms Hoon Shu Kim, Mr Chin Swee Hoe, Ms Jocelyn Lee Hui Ting, Ms Lim Yen Yen, 
Ms Lilian Hoi Mei Fong, Ms Catherine New Wee Bee, Ms Susan Lim Siew Gek, Ms Ann Ng, Ms Eilynn Chin Yin Ling
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Metta Day Activity Centre 
for the Intellectually Disabled

ࠢ਒ᒝᑇ྇ମ૚ࣅᒦቦ



16

Disability Care 
ᒝᑇॲᇗ

PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
The Metta Day Activity Centre for 
the Intellectually Disabled (MIDAC) 
is established to promote quality of 
life for individuals with intellectual 
disabilities.
 Partially funded by the MCYS and 
NCSS, our day care services cater 
to 34 beneficiaries up to date, aged 
between 16 and 55 from various races 
and religion. They are diagnosed 
with intellectual impairment such as 
Down’s syndrome and autism.
 These conditions often result 
in concurrent impediments in 
adaptive functioning, which affect 
their communication, self-care and 
cognitive learning abilities. Therefore, 
our beneficiaries are trained in four 
domains namely Activity of Daily 
Living, Community Living Skills, Social 
& Recreational Activities and Pre-
vocational Skills. This will equip them 
with the confidence, knowledge and 
independence to assist their daily lives.
 
Individual Care Plans
Detailing specific interventions that 
address the needs and challenges 
unique to their disability profiles, 
individual care plans are designed 
to help our beneficiaries achieve 
maximum gains in their abilities. 

 These plans are executed via a 
comprehensive training curriculum, 
covering areas such as activities of 
daily living and community living skills. 
The former promote their mastery of 
self-help skills, while the latter enable 
them to function adequately at home 
and in the community.
 Pre-vocational, social and 
recreational skills are also taught 
to further equip them with greater 
independence and confidence. In 
tandem, we work closely with their 
caregivers to render well-rounded 
support that enables seamless 
integration beyond our centre.
 Measurable goals and objectives 
are determined regularly to define 

realistic standards and targets for 
subsequent evaluations of their 
progress, following which their 
developments are monitored and 
recorded daily.
 At the end of every six months, 
our professional team holds case 
conferences with their caregivers to 
review their performance outcomes 
and update them on the beneficiaries’ 
progress. Proficiency milestones, 
programmes and behavioural 
modifications are then charted in the 
setting of future targets.
 This approach ensures that 
relevant programmes are consistently 
developed to meet the recipients’ 
changing needs, thus helping them 

One of the beneficiaries was enjoying a fun 

moment piecing jigsaw puzzles with Temasek 

Poly intern Siti Nurshafiqah.  

ጙ၊ૉཽိᑵਜ਼౶ᔈࡥ൫ᇣಯ৔ኧᏔࡼጙᆡဣ

ᇴည Siti Nurshafiqah Ꭰ౐࢐Ᏼᅮສᅄᎊᇻă
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gain desired levels of progress. All 
programme outcomes and results 
are submitted to and assessed by the 
NCSS on a quarterly basis. By working 
closely with the governing bodies, 
we augment our service model and 
professional competencies.

Value-Added Programmes
Going beyond their immediate 
needs, we provide our beneficiaries 
with equal access to mainstream 
opportunities, which are vital platforms 
for them to exercise choices, 
integration and independence.
 Besides going through their 
daily exercise routines, we also pay 
attention to their social and emotional 
well-being. Interest is cultivated by 
introducing sports like badminton, 

basketball, bocce, athletics, and 
“parachute” team games to them. 
Team games like “parachute” can 
train our clients’ motor skills while 
being fun in nature, as it requires them 
to hold and flap both sides of the 
parachute, similar to how the actual 
sport is being performed. 
 As a treat for our recipients, we 
also organise public events and 
encourage them to participate 
actively in. In these events, our 
beneficiaries get a chance to 
participate in karaoke singing sessions, 
outdoor excursions, grassroots 
activities, and showcase their talent in 
art and crafts making. 
 Not forgetting some of our 
beneficiaries with weak motor and 
coordination skills, we also provide 

them with physiotherapy and 
occupational therapy intervention 
programmes catering to their specific 
needs. 
 In accordance with our efforts to 
instill independence, we also equip our 
beneficiaries with practical working 
skills such as popcorn, waffles and 
sandwich making. These skills would 
value add to their set of capabilities, 
hence would heighten their chances 
at potential employment. While 
learning these skills, our beneficiaries 
would also be familiarised with a real-
life working environment. 

ACHIEVEMENTS
We have accomplished significant 
success in tending to our clients’ 
unique physiological and 
psychological needs this year. 
Focusing on providing our beneficiaries 
with self-help skills to aid in their daily 
lives, we have utilised various therapies 
to help meet our objectives for them. 

Art Therapy
Art therapy is technique we believe 
provides a good platform for our 
beneficiaries to explore their creativity. 
It can help them develop higher levels 
of confidence, independence and 
also cultivate patience. Art therapy is 

To instill independence, we teach our clients 

practical life skills that are applicable in their 

daily lives.

ጙᆡᒦቦᒆᏋᑵᏴ୴ࡴ၊ૉཽိ྇ޟည૚ᒦࡼဣ

ଔည૚ଆถǈጲ৴಺ਜ਼቏ᓐჇඣ྇ޟည૚ࣖೂă
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also an avenue for them to reveal their 
true emotions as they would be able 
to portray them through the art pieces 
they work on. 
 Furthermore, our clients are able 
to practise their motor movements and 
hand-eye coordination through the 
manual craftwork. Focusing on their 
strengths in replication, repetition and 
systematic visual structures, our training 
officers dissected craft procedures in 
manageable steps, so as to aid their 
understanding and mastery.
 After wrapping up their master 
pieces, the artworks would be 
displayed in art galleries and 
exhibitions, allowing the creators to 
feel a sense of achievement, hence 
boosting self-esteem. Like previous 
years, our beneficiaries were invited 
by HDB to participate at the HDB Hub 
Carnival fair in 2011. As the event was 
held during the Valentine’s Day period, 
our clients made and sold ceramic 
roses to raise funds for the centre. 

Sports Involvement
Our beneficiaries are regularly trained 
in sports like bocce, basketball and 
athletics to prepare them for active 
participation of future competitions 
organised by the Singapore Sports 
Council for the Disabled and in the 

Special Olympics. Their participation 
would allow them to know others with 
the same interests from other voluntary 
welfare organisations while engaging 
in healthy competitions among 
themselves. Prizes or tokens would 
be given out to those who display 
exemplary performances to boost 
their confidence level and recognise 
their efforts. 

Other Therapies
In order to improve our beneficiaries’ 
sensory and motor skills, we also 
integrate music and play therapies in 
our usual exercise regimes. 
 We believe the presence of music 
in our sensory exploration programmes 
promotes a positive state of mind in 
our recipients, hence enhancing their 
performance. By inducing calmness 
and positive feelings, the activities aid 

in conditioning their mental state and 
allow them to work through emotional 
and behavioural issues arising from 
their sensory deficiencies. They can 
thus be able to carry out assigned 
tasks well. 
 We also explored the use of play 
therapy to engage our beneficiaries, 
which by far, have been well received. 
Our recipients are able to enjoy doing 
activities including Nintendo Wii 
games and a giant-sized Snakes and 
Ladders board game made out of 
large floor mats. 
 Besides stimulating interest among 
our recipients, they are also able to 
build confidence, improve their motor 
skills and hand-eye coordination while 
playing these games. Additionally, the 
games allow them to practise social 
skills when they are interacting among 
themselves.

The facilities and activities in Metta Day Activity Centre for the Intellectually Disabled. 

ࠢ਒ᒝᑇ྇ମ૚ࣅᒦቦࡼ࿸ဗਜ਼૚ࣅă
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Community Outreach 
Reaping benefits on many 
fronts, our active involvement in 
recreational pursuits, grassroots 
and community events contributed 
to the beneficiaries’ physical and 
psychological well-being. Besides 
promoting skills development and 
social integration among them, 
it induced greater visibility and 
awareness on our disability services.
 Enhanced community perceptions 
broadened and deepened our 
engagement with the grassroots, 
thereby attracting more social 
partners and neighbourhood residents 
to volunteer and partake in our 
activities. 
 This year, we were pleased to 
extend internship opportunities to 
two Temasek Polytechnic students, 
lasting from 20 September 2010 to 

3 December 2010. This two-month 
stint has taught these Psychology 
Studies students invaluable skills 
and knowledge with regards to 
the planning of activities for the 
beneficiaries. On the top of the skills 
they have imparted from the staff 
they worked with, the students also 
reported having experienced an 
enriching, fulfilling and humbling time. 

Staff Training
Our staff had to attend regular 
training sessions to keep pace with 
the latest developments in disability 
care. Workshops and seminars were 
carried out by NCSS, MCYS and 
other expert leaders in this field. They 
have attended classes for Diploma in 
Disability Studies, Certificate in Autism 
Studies, Special Needs, Outcome 
Management and Challenging 
Behaviour Intervention courses. 

 We believe providing our staff 
with ample training would help 
equip them with the necessary skills 
and knowledge to overcome any 
challenges they may face in the 
course of their work. Furthermore, 
employees can benefit from the 
interaction with fellow professionals. 
They would then be able to make use 
of that knowledge in their professional 
applications. Simultaneously, they can 
pass on the useful information to their 
colleagues in a feat to value add to 
the service standards. 

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
As dedicated caregivers, we will 
work on a continuous emphasis on 
developing our staff in order to keep 
up with the professional framework 
required by NCSS and MCYS. To 
better provide for the needs of 
our beneficiaries and tend to their 
concerns, we will also continue to look 
into efficacious training methodologies 
for them.  
 Last but not least, we aim to 
maintain a steady rapport with our 
clients in efforts to facilitate a holistic 
day care approach for them. We 
will remain committed to deliver our 
promise and further enhance their 
quality of life as far as possible.

Our clients were sharing a Kodak moment 

during an outing to Downtown East, Pasir Ris. 

ၫᆡ၊ૉཽိࡵᔭൢᏴڹ࿃ࡼᒆᔐᎥಘီஏǉ

ᎊಂǈ݀༦੝ᑍഔศă߃ࣁ
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Blk 627 Hougang Ave 8 #01-130 S(530627)
Tel: 6385 2913   Fax: 6385 2914
Email: hidac@metta.org.sg

 Like us on
 www.facebook.com/MettaIDAC

50m

Metta Day Activity Centre 
for the Intellectually Disabled 

ࠢ਒ᒝᑇ྇ମ૚ࣅᒦቦ
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Metta Home for the Disabled & 
Metta Home Day Activity Centre

ࠢ਒ಘჿᏑૺᒝᑇ྇ମ૚ࣅᒦቦ
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
Funded by the MCYS and Metta, the 
Metta Home for the Disabled and 
Metta Home Day Activity Centre are 
established to provide residential care 
and day care services for individuals 
with disabilities, aged between 18 and 
55, regardless of race and religion. 
 Amalgamating scenic 
landscaping and user-friendly 
amenities, our premises offer a 
tranquil haven for a maximum 
of 103 residents and 50 day care 
beneficiaries. Presently, the Metta 
Home is accommodating 95 residents, 
with five vacancies set aside for respite 
care and emergency cases. The Day 
Activity Centre is currently providing 
for 25 beneficiaries. 
 Our programmes and activities 
aim to help both the residents and day 
care beneficiaries lead independent 
and fulfilling lives, thereby enhancing 
their self-esteem and confidence. We 
also work closely with their parents 
and family members to provide well-
rounded support. 

Residential Services
Replicating a homely ambience, the 
Metta Home is equipped with rooms 
tastefully furnished with customised 
fittings. To ensure the delivery of 

maximum care, our residents are 
divided into small groups and a 24-
hour nurse-call system is installed in 
every room to render prompt attention 
to them when needed.
 Individual care plans are drawn 
up for all residents to help them 
achieve progress in areas involving 
activities of daily living, community 
living skills and social skills. We trust by 
enhancing their abilities in these areas, 
their quality of life can be significantly 
improved.

Day Care Services
Located within the Metta Home, our 
day activity centre essentially adopts 
a similar curriculum as our affiliated 
centre MIDAC. In accordance with 

their unique needs and capabilities, 
customised modifications and 
enrichment programmes are 
incorporated into the curriculum to 
strengthen their living skills so they can 
participate fully at home and in the 
community.

Holistic Care
Tending to the residents and day 
care beneficiaries with holistic care is 
a multi-disciplinary team comprising 
of a social worker, a handful of staff 
nurses and therapy aides. Additionally, 
in-house programmes and exercises 
are provided to those who suffer from 
medical conditions like muscular 
atrophy, structural and postural 
deformities.

Being able to cast a smile on our beneficiaries’ 

faces is our greatest joy. 
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ACHIEVEMENTS
The year in review saw us reinforcing 
our existing structure of programmes 
while maintaining strong links with the 
grassroots. We gamely took up the 
challenge of injecting vigour into our 
beneficiaries through recreational 
activities to improve their quality of life.

Value-Added Programmes
As the early onset of ageing is a 
phenomenon prevalent among 
people with intellectual disabilities, 
beneficiaries who are entering their 
third age form an increasing yet 
diverse group in our clientele. 
 Thus, we employ programmes 
which are targeted at prolonging 
the retardation of brain activity. They 
can enjoy playing memory games, 
participating in music and movement, 
and sensory activities. They are also 
taught constructive skills such as the 
making of waffles, Chinese snack Min 

Jiang Kuey and other forms of food 
preparation. These programmes are 
effective in catering to our clients’ 
practical needs as well as recreational 
needs. 
 In line with our goal for our clients 
to age with grace, we also adopted 
the incorporation of Wii games in our 
daily regimes as a platform for our 
clients to exercise in enjoyable ways. 
The playing of Wii games requires 
engaging body movements, which 
serves our clients with the physical 
therapy they need. They can therefore 
build and tone their muscles, improve 
sense of balance, ability to bear and 
shift weight. It also sharpens our clients’ 
hand-eye coordination and increases 
their range of motion. 
 To keep the clients active, we 
encourage our clients to partake 
in several individual and group 
activities. Some of the activities they 
have participated in encompass 

weekly bowling sessions at the Orchid 
Country Club, outings to parks, library, 
shopping centres, Changi Airport, 
Museum and the New Water Visitor 
centre.

Community Involvement
While we strive to engender comfort 
and warmth in our centres to eliminate 
feelings of institutionalisation in 
them, we have held social outings 
that engaged them meaningfully in 
the community. More of such visits 
were held this year to increase their 
familiarity with the neighbourhood.
 To provide them with greater 
access to communal interaction, 
we have arranged our beneficiaries 
to attend social gatherings, charity 
dinners and variety shows hosted 
by community clubs, grassroots 
organisations, religious bodies and 
other social service providers. A 
result of our established network with 
these civic groups and the varied 
recreational line-up is the vibrancy 
and joy our beneficiaries have 
experienced. 
 Likewise, events like the Metta 
Charity Walk cum Family Carnival 
organised by our headquarters 
allowed them to interface with the 
volunteers and public. Their active 

The facilities and activities in Metta Home for the Disabled & Metta Home Day Activity 

Centre. 
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participation not only elicited 
awareness of their capabilities, it also 
boosted their self-esteem.

Community Partners
Signs of our robust collaboration 
with the Fuchun Community Club 
Management Committee, Marsiling 
Grassroots Organisation, Marsiling 
CDEC and Singapore Red Cross 
Society remained evident. As a yearly 
event, we held our blood donation 
drive at the Fuchun Community Club 
on 24 October 2010. It garnered a 
total of 95 registered participants and 
74 successful participants. Gracing 
the event was our Guest-of-Honour, 
Marsiling Citizens’ Consultative 
Committee Chairman Mr Cheong 
Khim Teck (JP, BBM).
 Special thanks to our corporate 
donors, donors and volunteers, who 
aided in the facilitation of group 
activities and have made generous 
contributions to us. 
 The regional leaders of Standard 
Chartered Bank had a heartwarming 
afternoon mingling with our clients on 
8 September 2010. In the good spirit 
of their corporate social responsibility 
(CSR) efforts, they interacted very 
well with our clients, making that day 
a memorable one for everyone. Out 

of spontaneity, they danced to one 
of Korean pop group Wonder Girls’ 
songs, “Nobody”, with our clients.  
 On another CSR event, the 
staff of Firefly and its volunteers 
performed a traditional Chinese 
Opera performance for our clients on 
18 September 2010 at Metta Home. 
Likewise, our corporate donor JP 
Morgan organised an early Christmas 
celebration as part of their CSR 
programme on 20 November 2010 for 

our clients at Metta Home’s multi-
purpose hall. 
 In the name of good fun, the 
general manager of JP Morgan 
dressed up as Santa and distributed 
Christmas goodie bags to our clients. 
After which, the staff sang Christmas 
songs, played musical chairs and a 
giant-sized snakes and ladders game 
with our clients. 
 We are also privileged to be 
supported by our donor Ms Ellen Chua, 

Posing for a picture with Marsiling Citizens’ 

Consultative Committee Chariman Mr Cheong 

Khim Teck (centre) was a 83rd time blood 

donor, Mr P M Gunasaykaran. 

࿖ቦཽိ P M Gunasaykaranࡼ௮ኪࠨလྯڭ࢒
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along with her friends, who have 
arranged karaoke sessions and meal 
treats for our clients on every second 
Saturday of each month at Fujian Pu 
Tian Seafood Restaurant. The sessions 
have enlivened our beneficiaries while 

weekly supplies of soya milk from Super 
Bean International provided nutritious 
beverages for them.
 Lastly, student volunteers from St 
Gabriel’s Secondary, CHIJ St Nicholas 
Girls’ School, Innova Junior College 

and Raffles Junior College continued 
to be an essential force in bringing joy 
and laughter to our clients.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
Helping our beneficiaries age 
gracefully in place requires 
appropriate facilities and care 
expertise. With that goal in mind, 
we have upgraded our premises by 
installing more disabled-elder-friendly 
fixtures to create a conducive, barrier-
free environment for them. We will 
continue to explore better ways to 
retrofit the premises with elder-friendly 
facilities.
 Further training in disability, 
rehabilitative and behavioural care will 
also be provided for our professional 
team to enhance their competency 
in implementing intervention 
programmes. At the same time, we 
hope to explore more ways for our 
professional team and other homes to 
share and circulate knowledge and 
expertises within the field.

House-keeping is one of the lifelong skills we 

impart to our beneficiaries in Metta Home. 
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2  Woodlands St 31 S(738580)
Tel: 6365 7666   Fax: 6365 7555
Email: MettaHome@metta.org.sg

 Like us on
 www.facebook.com/MettaHome
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
Partially funded by the MOH and 
Tote Board Social Service Fund, the 
Metta Day Rehabilitation Centre 
for the Elderly is established to 
provide rehabilitative care for senior 
citizens who suffer from mild physical 
impairment as a result of stroke, injuries 
or other illnesses.
 Our services are geared towards 
maximising their independence level, 
while offering respite to their families 
and caregivers. By doing so, we play a 
supportive role in realising the concept 
of ageing in place, where our seniors 
can continue to live with respect and 
dignity within the community.
 Catering up to 75 recipients from 
various races and religions daily, 
our centre executes this vision by 
providing a comprehensive slate of 
rehabilitative, eldercare and social 
programmes for seniors with impaired 
functional abilities all under one roof. 
Currently operating at 85% capacity, 
we assist our clientele in regaining 
maximum functional capability 
through rehabilitative treatment and 
engagement in active lifestyles.

Rehabilitation
Targeted at restoring their functional 
abilities, active and maintenance 

rehabilitation are conducted on 
recipients who require follow-up 
treatment after discharge from 
hospitals or are affected by age-
related frailty and conditions such as 
stroke and arthritis.
 Our therapy range comprises 
physiotherapy, occupational therapy 

and complementary therapies 
involving acupuncture, massage, 
reflexology, craniosacral therapy, art 
and computer usage.
 Rounding off our care continuum 
are wellness and support services 
like medical and basic nursing aid, 
outdoor leisure activities, health 

Our beneficiaries, caregivers, volunteers and 

staff coming together to celebrate Lunar New 

Year; a lovely sight of the cultural melting pot 

we stay in. 
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education and checks. We also help 
our recipients’ families become more 
adept in their caregiving roles by 
teaching basic nursing procedures 
and loaning rehabilitative equipment.

Social Programmes
Ensuring continuity between step-
down care and community-based 
eldercare are social programmes 
designed to provide supervision 
and support for recipients who have 
progressed from rehabilitative to 
maintenance programmes. 
 Health screenings, therapies 
and planned activities such as 
hobby crafts, exercises, outings and 
recreational pursuits are conducted 
regularly to enhance their emotional 
and physical wellness.
 The focus of social programmes is 
on enriching their lives, building upon 
their skills, knowledge, unique abilities 
and strengths. By keeping them 

meaningfully occupied and active 
among their peers, institutionalisation 
and deterioration are prevented. 
 This service component not only 
prolongs independent living in them, 
but also empowers them to age with 
security and dignity, while leading 
fulfilling lives as integral members of 
the society.

Value-Added Programmes
A balance-and-fall programme aimed 
at preventing and reducing falls 
among the elders serves to provide 
neuromuscular and vestibular training 
to strengthen their lower limb muscles 
and improve balance. Additionally, 
counselling services are available 
to render psychosocial support for 
individuals, couples and families from 
various socio-economic backgrounds. 
Furthermore, respite care is extended 
to needy elders whose family members 
and caregivers are away at work.

ACHIEVEMENTS
We managed to reach out to more 
community partners and social service 
agencies during the year in review. 
Our exposure and involvement in their 
events and projects helped us raise 
our profile, develop new capabilities, 
deepen relations and strengthen our 
fundamentals.
 Additionally, we have carried 
our renovation plan in the centre 
in hope to heighten the quality of 
the surroundings our clients carry 
out their daily activities in. In the 
aspect of medical care, not only 
have we provided our staff with the 
required knowledge to perform their 
rudimentary duties, we too provided 
them with opportunities to enhance 
their expertise.  

Appointment as Member of ComCare 
Local Network
Since our appointment as member 
of the North East ComCare Local 
Network (CLN) in January 2010, we 
have forged close relations with social 
service agencies and grassroots 
organisations. We had also been 
invited to attend regular networking 
sessions organised by the North East 
Community Development Council, 
in which we were updated with the 

Selamat Hari Raya Adilfitri! 
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latest news on their Comcare scheme 
for the needy. On top of that, we were 
introduced to the new members of 
the CLN.

Enhanced Staff Expertise
In order to develop and maintain 
our staffs’ professional competencies 
and standards, monthly workshops 
on chronic conditions, common 
ailments, nursing, care management, 
rehabilitative therapies, as well as 
emotional and psychological wellness 
were conducted. 
 This year, our healthcare staff 
attended the Singapore Palliative 
Care Conference 2011 at the Biopolis 
from 3 to 5 March. This meeting allows 
palliative care professionals to gain 
and exchange knowledge from one 
another within the field. From the 
workshops conducted, our nurses and 
therapists got to delve further into 
pain, spiritual care and behavioural 
change, facilitating them to take care 
of the beneficiaries more effectively. 
 On a regular basis, our nurses, 
physiotherapists and occupational 
therapist took turns to hold talks, 
covering topics like diabetes, stroke, 
dementia, osteoporosis, stress 
management and positive thinking. 
Concurrently, we have our monthly 

clinical meetings held with our 
consultant physiotherapist Mr Joshua 
Chui and occupational therapist Ms 
Soh Sze Jie. 

Community Outreach
Declining stamina and diminishing 
social networks were identified as 
primary factors that curtailed the 
level of support and companionship 
received by the elderly. Events like 
festive celebrations and group parties 
were thus held to broaden our seniors’ 
choice and breadth of community 
participation.
 Viewing the residents and 
grassroots organisations within our 
vicinity as our direct stakeholders, we 
courted their participation, hence 
injecting more bustle and vibrance 
into these occasions. This consequently 
gave us valuable opportunities 
to promote positive values and 
perceptions towards ageing, inter-
generational cohesion and racial 

harmony.
 During the Hari Raya period, 
we had the third consecutive 
collaboration with the Darul Ghufran 
Mosque to organise a festive 
celebration for Kheng Chiu Happy 
Lodge and Jamiyah Home for the 
Aged. We also invited underprivileged 
residents from Tampines to join 
us in the joyous occasion on 22 
September 2010 at the Malay Village. 
Among the 250-strong turnout were 
representatives from the National 
Council of Social Service, Ministry of 
Community Development, Youth and 
Sports, grassroots and religious bodies.
 The event ended on an 
uplifting note when Special Guest 
Mr Khairulnizam Massuan, General 
Manager of the North East Community 
Development Council, along with 
Chairman of Northeast Mosque Cluster 
Mr Abdul Matin and Metta’s Executive 
Director Venerable Shi Pu En handed 
our beneficiaries green packets 

The facilities and activities in Metta Day Rehabilitation Centre for the Elderly. 
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and goodie bags. Special thanks 
to our various donors and sponsors 
who made the celebration possible 
through their kind contributions.
  Amid the numerous acts of 
kindness shown to us, we are glad to 
have our long-time donor, the Wan 
Boo Sow Charity Fund Ltd, who has 
irrevocable supported us in many ways. 
On 4 June 2010, it gave our clients a 
lunch treat to commemorate the birth 
anniversary of the late Mrs Wan, Mdm 
Annie Tan. Subsequently, our seniors 
were given another treat to honour the 
late Mr Wan on 27 July 2010. 
 On 18 July 2010, we had our eighth 

annual blood donation drive held with 
another centre under Metta’s medical 
arm, Metta Hospice Care. With support 
from the Singapore Red Cross and 
Changi Simei Community Emergency 
and Engagement Committee like 
previous years, the event attracted a 
104-strong crowd to support our life-
saving cause. 
 The honour was ours to have our 
Guest-of-Honour Mr Koh Tong Seng BBM, 
Changi Simei Citizens’ Consultative 
Committee Chairman, to lead the 
donation drive by setting an example 
himself. The event managed to raise 
72 units of blood in total.    

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
In order to provide our clients with 
a more conducive environment to 
recuperate in, we have recently 
completed our renovations, which 
gave our centre a complete facelift. 
Our clients can now make use of 
the improved facilities and newer 
equipment to assist in their exercise 
regimes. 
 On top of enhancing our facilities, 
we also see a need to maintain the 
standards of our healthcare staff. 
This year, our staff attended the 
Singapore Palliative Care Conference 
to exchange knowledge among 
professionals in the field. We hope to 
provide more similar opportunities in 
the future to constantly upgrade the 
skills of our staff.   
 Lastly, we hope to reach out 
to a larger clientele base while 
improving our services to our existing 
beneficiaries.

Three cheers for the staff of Standard 

Chartered who were our manual workers for 

the day!
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Blk 296 Tampines St 22 #01-526 S(520296)
Tel: 6789 5951   Fax: 6786 3758    
Email: rehab@metta.org.sg

 Like us on
 www.facebook.com/MettaRehab
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
Set up in June 2000 to offer free home 
hospice care to the terminally ill of all 
ages and races, the Metta Hospice 
Care helps patients live with quality 
and dignity throughout the last phase 
of their lives.
 Funded in part by the MOH and 
NCSS, our services are delivered via 
an inter-disciplinary team of doctors, 
nurses, spiritual advisors and a medical 
social worker-cum-counsellor. A 
member of the Singapore Hospice 
Council and Asia Pacific Hospice 
Network, we take care of patients who 
are referred from medical institutions 
and general practitioners. 
 Diagnosed with life-limiting illnesses 
such as cancer and end-stage organ 
failure, these patients have primarily 
ceased curative treatment and 
have a prognosis of one year or less 

to live. Through our domiciliary care, 
they continue to receive nursing aid, 
medical supervision and medications 
for pain and other symptoms in the 
comfort of their own homes. 

Palliative & Hospice Care
Palliative and hospice care form the 
two main tenets of our services. While 
the former entails pain relief and 
management of other symptoms like 
nausea and fatigue, the latter tends to 
the physical, emotional, psychosocial 
and spiritual needs of patients and 
caregivers. Neither hastening nor 
postponing death, both culminate 
into a holistic approach that aims 
to alleviate suffering and maximise 
quality of life.
 Aligned to this goal is our 
comprehensive range of medical, 
nursing, social, emotional and spiritual 

support, which ensures that our 
patients undergo a smooth transition 
from acute care in hospitals to 
home care that is clean, safe and 
convenient.
 To facilitate the development of 
individualised care plans, their needs 
and conditions are first assessed to 
determine the most suitable type of 
care and equipment. The intensity of 
home visits and reliance on equipment 
are then paced according to the 
severity of their conditions during 
follow-up care.
 Besides administering medication, 
counselling and therapies, our medical 
personnel work with the patients’ 
families and primary physicians to 
achieve total care management. 
Concomitantly, measures like teaching 
caregivers basic nursing routines and 
free equipment loans help ensure the 
continuity of effective home care 
during intervals between visits. 

Support Services
Believing that emotional and spiritual 
pain are as veritable as physical 
afflictions, we offer counselling services 
and spiritual support to both the 
patients and their families to help them 
cope with end-of-life issues, including 
grief management. 

Gave blood, saved lives.
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 At the same time, spiritual advisors 
from various faiths are available to 
help them connect to their religions or 
draw strength from personal values. 
We also facilitate their arrangement 
for additional care services as well 
as subsidy applications with medical 
institutions and social assistance 
providers.

ACHIEVEMENTS
Following the economic recovery, we 
were able to provide for more needy 
patients than before; exceeding last 
year’s number of referrals by a fair 
bit, charting 207 referred cases. Our 
medical care practitioners were glad 
to be of help to the beneficiaries, even 
if it meant they had to care for more 
of them. 
 Even with a higher patient 
headcount, our nurses continued 
to care for the patients willingly and 
maintain good rapport with them. 
Having no qualms to go beyond their 
call of duty, they definitely deserve our 
utmost respect and appreciation. 

Enhanced Expertise
It is our privilege to have Dr Deborah 
Watkinson, a specialist from the 
Palliative Medicine Department of 
National Cancer Centre Singapore 

as our Clinical Consultant. Her 
participation in our monthly meetings 
enabled us to tap on her wealth of 
expertise on patient management 
and clinical audits, thereby enhancing 
the depth and quality of our services. 
 We continued to put in efforts 
to conduct undergraduate and 

postgraduate medical training 
in palliative care through clinical 
attachments for interns from the 
National University of Singapore (NUS) 
and Duke-NUS Graduate Medical 
School Singapore. Similar placements 
were offered to nurses undergoing 
palliative care courses too. The 

Attending to the patient at her home was our 

kind nurse, Ms Adeline Wong. 
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partnership is an excellent platform for 
knowledge sharing, while it provided 
our clients with the companionship 
and care that they need. 
 To ensure our patients are in good 
hands, we do our best to provide our 
staff with regular training sessions, 
including relevant courses to upgrade 
their skills, conferences and seminars. 
While new medical staff were required 
to attend hospice care courses, 
existing staff had to go through 
different difficulty levels in palliative 
counselling as well. 

Youth Awareness
Our younger generation will eventually 
take on the baton to care for the 
elders, hence we believe raising 
awareness relating to hospice and 
palliative care among the youth is of 
paramount importance. 
 This year in review, we were 
pleased to gain keen interest from 

a group of NUS students to kick-start 
youth volunteering in our centre by 
taking on a leading role. Following 
their prior project to help a terminally 
ill old lady fulfil her wish to go out of 
her house to visit her friends, this kind-
hearted group of undergraduates 
took it up a notch and embarked on 
a project with our centre. They set 
up a booth at NUS to give out Metta 
Hospice brochures to their fellow 
schoolmates, in a bid to encourage 
youths to volunteer at Metta. 
 We are extremely heartened 
to see such fervent efforts and 
compassion coming from our youths 
today.   

Community Outreach
For the eighth year in running, our 
annual blood drive was organised 
jointly with the Changi Simei Civil 
Defence Executive Committee and 
Singapore Red Cross in the Metta 

School Sports Hall on 18 July 2010. 
We were honoured to have Mr Koh 
Tong Seng BBM, Chairman of Changi 
Simei CCC, grace our event, which 
collected 72 units in total.
 A small-scaled flea market was 
organised alongside the blood 
donation drive, giving our donors one 
more reason to support us in our event, 
attracting the attention of 104 people. 
To thank our blood donors for their 
kind contributions, certificates, goodie 
bags, snacks and drinks were given 
out to show our appreciation.  

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
Moving on to the following year, we 
hope to expand our clientele base 
from the current 100 to 125. Similarly, 
we will continue to raise hospice 
care awareness among the younger 
generation and engage more youth 
volunteers in our community projects 
in the upcoming year. Their energy 
and zeal in advancing the cause of 
hospice and palliative care will inject 
greater drive and sustainability into our 
campaign efforts.

Hospice staff supporting Metta Charity Run 

2011. 
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Metta Building (Level 5) 32 Simei St 1 S(529950)
Tel: 6580 4695   Fax: 6787 7542    
Email: hhospice@metta.org.sg

 Like us on
 www.facebook.com/MettaHospice
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SE CDC – Metta 
Student Care Centre 
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
Jointly spearheaded by the South East 
CDC and Metta, our student care 
centre offers quality yet affordable 
care services to children aged seven 
to 14 from various races, religions and 
socio-economic backgrounds.
 Our primary sources of funding 
come from Metta and the service 
fees charged. Able to accommodate 
110 pupils, our centre provides 
regular student care services as well 
as emergency care service for walk-
in parents whose children require 
temporary supervision. Fee subsidies 
are given to low-income families. 

Integrated Curriculum
In line with our goal to create a 

conducive environment that supports 
holistic development, we offer diverse 
learning opportunities that cater for 
different types of learners. Structured 
programmes that provide academic 
support and enrichment options help 
nurture our students into confident 
individuals with a positive attitude 
towards learning.
 The former includes supervision 
of homework, reinforcement of 
school curriculum through graded 
worksheets, group discussions and 
remedial lessons. At the same time, 
enrichment programmes like arts and 
crafts, storytelling, music and dancing 
are provided. 
 All these serve to develop 
their interests and talents beyond 

academia to promote an inquiring 
spirit, strategic thinking, creativity and 
valuable life skills. 
 Encouraging personal exploration 
through recreation and play are 
sports and team-building activities, 
educational visits and nature trips. 
Developing their IT competency are 
programmes that teach them how to 
acquire, evaluate, organise, interpret 
and communicate information 
through technology. 
 Under the presence of a 
conducive environment, our pupils 
learn to network with other peers, 
share their experiences and enhance 
each other’s educational goals. 
 Recognising that the community 
represents an arena where they 
can maximise their potential and 
make a difference to the lives of the 
underprivileged, we provide them with 
opportunities to participate actively 
in outreach programmes, thereby 
facilitating the inculcation of a strong 
value system.

ACHIEVEMENTS
On the academic front, like the 
previous year, we maintained 100% 
passing rate on our students’ Primary 
School Leaving Examinations. Faring 
beyond our expectations, our students 

The curious looks of wonder on the faces of 

wide-eyed school children.   
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have done very well this round, 
with the top student achieving an 
aggregate score of 260. 

Youth Involvement
Our endeavours to build a better 
future for young people imbued us 
with a sense of achievement and 
fulfilment. Many youth volunteers 
appointed us as the beneficiaries 
of their community involvement 
programmes that include mentoring, 
tutoring, team-building activities, 
and arts and crafts sessions. Among 
them were students from the Pasir Ris 
Secondary and Hwa Chong Institution, 
who spend their time tutoring and 
mentoring the students at the centre 
after school and during their term 
breaks.
 An important platform for 
extending our programme diversity 
and capability, such collaborations 
with various volunteer groups led 
to rewarding experiences that 
supplemented our pupils’ learning 
journey, while giving us the privileged 
opportunity to assist them in the 
development of their civic projects.
 The highlight of the year was the 
one-day camp sponsored by learning 
solutions provider High Achievers 
on 22 December 2010 at the MOE 

Jalan Bahtera Adventure Centre. The 
children had so much fun at the camp 
they unanimously reported that the 
9am to 6pm day camp did not satisfy 
their play cravings, wishing it had 
lasted at least overnight. 
 The purpose of the camp was 
to teach the children valuable 
beyond-classroom lessons such as 
group cohesion. To achieve this in 
a fun manner, the children played 
games that promote trust building and 
interdependency among each other. 
After the camp has concluded, the 
students went home with many happy 
memories and learning takeaways. 
  Last of all, as a regular 
practice, we collaborated with the 
MCYS to enable juvenile probationers 
to fulfil their Community Service Order 
at our centre. We believe by allowing 
them to fulfill meaningful tasks and 

responsibilities would help shape their 
character and develop their sense of 
purpose. We were heartened to see 
these rehabilitative stints effecting 
positive changes, as displayed in 
their caring demeanors towards the 
children.
 
Extended Learning
We recognise the importance of 
learning not just within the classrooms. 
Our programme officers take on 
the role of a mentor in guiding their 
students to adapt and excel in diverse 
aspects of their lives. This would help 
the students, especially for those who 
are transiting into adolescence, grow 
up to be respectable and successful 
individuals. Hence beyond academic 
pursuits, the students also got to have 
some holiday fun and hands-on 
activities that exposed them to various 

The facilities and activities in SE CDC – Metta Student Care Centre. 
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experiences and life skills. 
 On an instance, one of the 
volunteers, Mdm Ng Li Kiang, 
conducted baking classes for the 
students at our centre. Thanks to 
the culinary lessons, the students 
got to decorate and bake delicious 
cupcakes and cookies. On top of 
baking, Mdm Ng also taught them to 
fry Chinese dishes, such as Kway Teow, 
and make sandwiches. 
 During the June school holidays, 
the students had a great deal of 
fun swimming at Seng Kang Sports 

and Recreation Complex, visiting 
Bollywood Vegetable farm and The 
Animal Resort, not forgetting kite flying 
at the Marina Barrage.
 On Children’s Day 2010, the 
Rotary Club of Garden City Singapore 
surprised the children by celebrating 
the occasion with them at the centre. 
They brought gifts, board games sets 
and Wii video games for the children 
to play. Additionally, they brought rice 
and groceries for the students from low 
income families. Overall, the students 
had great time interacting with the 

sponsors, engaging in the Wii games 
and an art and crafts competition.
 In order to maintain the standards 
of our programme officers, we 
regularly engage them in various 
training and developmental courses 
to enhance their pedagogy skills. This 
helped foster stronger bonds and 
mutual learning, hence allowing the 
teachers to understand and share 
the perspectives of the younger 
generation.
 Apart from the mentorship, we 
appreciate the generous support 
received from Food from the Heart, 
which had been nourishing our 
students physically with weekly 
supplies of bread.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
In the upcoming year, we are working 
towards developing more efficacious 
teaching methods and introducing a 
diverse range of activities to aid in our 
students’ learning. We will continue 
striving to inspire young minds and 
work towards strengthening various 
aspects of their development. We also 
hope to forge more bilateral ties with 
educational institutions in the future to 
initiate learning and outreach projects 
that are helpful to our children’s 
academic development.

Which child can resist Santa? The real Santa 

here was Holiday Inn Orchard City Centre, 

which held a charity feast for our young 

beneficiaries from SECDC-Metta Student Care 

Centre and Metta Alumni. 
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Blk 508 Bedok North Ave 3 #01-369 S(460508)
Tel: 6446 5324   Fax: 6446 5334    
Email: SECDC-MettaSCC1@metta.org.sg

 Like us on
 www.facebook.com/MettaSECDC
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Thanks to Baxter Singapore, children from 

Metta Preschool @Punggol and Metta School 

had a blast at Jacob Ballas Children’s Garden. 
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The children were having fun in class. Who 

says learning can’t be fun?  
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The facilities and activities in Metta PreSchool. 
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No monkey business – Our children can be 

serious at work when they want to!

඗ᎌઈฐቲᆐǈࠢ਒᎓एᏊࡼ᎓ਰኧညጐభཱྀ
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Block 194 Punggol Road #01-01 S(820194)
Tel: 6483 9585   Fax: 6483 9586
Email: preschool@metta.org.sg

 Like us on
 www.facebook.com/MettaPreschoolPunggol

Metta Building (Level 2) 32 Simei St 1 S(529950)
Tel: 6580 4653   Fax: 6580 4650
Email: preschool@metta.org.sg

 Like us on
 www.facebook.com/MettaPreschoolSimei
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
Established in 2001, the Metta School 
offers special education to children 
aged between seven and 18 from 
various races and religions, who are 
diagnosed with mild intellectual 
disability (IQ range of 50 to 70) and/or 
mild autism spectrum disorders (ASD).
 Supported by the MOE, NCSS and 
Metta, we strive to fulfill the imperative 
aim of helping these children function 
optimally as self-reliant and contributive 
individuals, empowering them with 
the means to lead independent and 
meaningful lives.
 Working concertedly towards 
this mission is our professional team 
of teachers, psychologists, speech 
therapists, occupational therapist, 
social worker and job placement 
officer, whose dedication is 
underpinned by the following core 
values:
1. Compassion 
2. Openness 
3. Respect
 The core values can be achieved 
through:
• Affirming one another’s good work
 We recognise the value in rewarding 

others for a job well done and are 
committed to do so.

• Giving opportunities

 We are objective and impartial 
when making decisions. We are 
committed to giving every child 
ample opportunities to learn and 
excel.

• Engaging in friendly cooperation
 We remain friendly and supportive 

towards each other, even at times 
when we may not agree

• Embracing lifelong learning
 We recognise the need for continual 

improvement and are eager to 
learn humbly from one another

• Sharing information and best 
practices

 We practise openness and 
communication for the benefit of 
the school and students.

 We build a trusting environment 
and are ready to share. Central to 
these principles is our robust and 
broad-based curriculum that serves 
to educate, engage and inspire our 
young charges through ample focus 
placed on each of these areas:

Functional Academics
The Workplace Literacy and Numeracy 
(WPLN) programme was implemented 
since 2007 to develop the students’ 
reading and listening proficiencies 
in English as well as arithmetic 
capabilities. It involves assessing the 
students’ current competency level in 
these areas and determining suitable 
levels of coaching to promote effective 
learning on their part.

Metta-ITE Skills Certification (ISC) 
Programme 
Under this two-year programme, ITE-
certified vocational courses in baking, 
food preparation and housekeeping 
are offered to eligible students aged 17 
and above.
 During the first year, trainees are 
required to undergo 140 hours of off-
the-job training in a classroom setting 
to acquire technical concepts and 
knowledge related to their area of 
specialisation. This is followed by 528 

The morale of the Stomp Warriors was high 

before their performance at the Chingay 

parade.  
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hours of on-the-job training in actual 
job settings in the second year. Such 
attachments are supervised by ITE 
approved trainers.
 Throughout the course tenure, 
our trainees also take up the following 
modules to cultivate a wider set of 
competencies to help them cope with 
real-life work contexts:
• WPLN to enhance their proficiency 

in English and Mathematics
• Work Place Information Technology 

and Work Place Skills (Personal 
Effectiveness) to gain computer and 
soft skills

School-To-Work Programme
Introduced in January 2006, this 
programme prepares students in 
general for future employment and 
external work demands via job 
attachments. These supplementary 
stints enable them to gain work 
experience and the confidence to 
navigate job routines.

Performing Arts
Hailing from diverse ethnic 
backgrounds, performing arts the 
likes of angklung, gamelan, handbell, 
Chinese orchestra, percussion, music 
and drama immerse our students in 
a culturally rich, multi-faceted and 
dynamic learning environment. 
 The availability of these artistic 
settings allows our students to build 
their commitment towards excellence 
and foster cultural sensitivities. 
Perseverance, patience, teamwork 
and discipline are cultivated in 
the passionate execution of their 
performing talents, thus fulfilling the 
broader agenda of character building.

Visual Arts
Adding diversity and depth to our 
students’ learning experience is an 
exciting palette of visual arts activities, 
which boasts choices like batik 
painting, mosaic art, pottery, Chinese 
calligraphy and photo-taking.

 Encouraging them to harness 
their interests and talents beyond 
academia, our flourishing range of 
aesthetic arts taps on their natural 
ability to relate to colour and form, 
paving for creative avenues of self-
expression and engaging alternatives 
to occupational therapy.

Sports Enrichment Programme 
As a milestone of our 10th anniversary 
in 2011, we decided to establish an 
all-rounded sports curriculum in our 
academic syllabus to provide a more 
holistic education. Apart from the 
usual Physical Education lessons and 
Co-curriculum activities we offer, we 
started conducting a good variety of 
sports programmes for the students to 
provide them with a comprehensive 
sports education.
 Our objectives are to provide 
our students with healthy sports 
exposure, enhance their motor 
skills and confidence, and promote 
character building. By exposing our 
students with wide range of sports 
activities on a non-competitive level, 
the ones lacking opportunities in this 
arena were able to take part in them. 
Furthermore, these physical activities 
helped refine our students’ motor skills, 
increase bodily awareness and hand-

The community partnership with Metta School 

was extended for two more years, thank you 

Crowne Plaza Changi Airport!  
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eye coordination, while boosting their 
confidence. Lastly, we managed to 
instill team spirit, sportsmanship, as 
well as nurture better characters in our 
students. 
 Our students enjoyed attending 
classes for swimming, educational 
gymnastics, floorball, bowling, 
hoop loop, adventure cycling, hip-
hop basketball and in-line skating. 
Arranged according to age-
appropriateness, our students could 
engage in a sport activity for a year, 
lasting 10 sessions, conducted from 
February to October 2010. The sessions 
were conducted by qualified sports 
instructors endorsed by the Singapore 
Sports Council. 
 At the end of the curriculum, 
some students discovered their hidden 
talents in sports and some cultivated 
interest in activities they never thought 
they would. Most importantly, they 
managed to gain knowledge beyond 
what they could learn in books and 
had fun while they were at it. 
 Due to the numerous requests 
from both teachers and students 
to take in more activities in the 
curriculum, including more challenging 
ones, implementation of activities like 
archery and adventure sports climbing 
are in the pipeline for 2011.

Student Welfare
At the Metta School, every student 
enjoys equal rights and access to 
learning opportunities. We have various 
assistance schemes in place to help 
children from low-income families:

Assistance Scheme No. of  
  Recipients
School Fees 102
School Bus Transport 54
Bus Stamp/MRT 61
Grocery 89

(As at 31 March 2011)

 In addition, 119 students receive 
help in other schooling essentials such 
as uniforms and shoes.

AchiEvEmENtS
The year in review was a fruitful one 
in various developments. We were 
pleased to celebrate the convocation 
of our students, who had done well as 
a cohort. Heartened to know all of our 
vocational graduates had secured job 
offers in various industries, we would 

continue to strive as a special needs 
educator to serve our students better in 
years to come. 
 To provide our students with a 
more holistic learning approach, 
we had established the Sports 
Enrichment Programme, allowing 
them to experiment with various sports 
activities, even the less taught ones. 
The implementation drew only positive 
responses from both our teachers 
and students. With the affirmation, we 
decided to expand this programme 
and hopefully garner more interest and 
positive outcomes from it in the coming 
years.  
 In the aspect of corporate training 
partnerships, we were extremely 
gladdened to not only have reinforced 
our existing collaborations; we also 
received support from new industry 
partners. With the increasing training 
partnerships, we could provide our 
students with a wide-ranging variety 
of workplaces to complete their 
internships. 
 To maintain the calibre of our 

Enjoying their excursion to the Singapore Zoo 

with our volunteers from Standard Chartered, 

Metta School student were grinning from ear 

to ear.  
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teaching professionals, we also 
managed to send them on a learning 
trip to Hong Kong to gain more 
experience and knowledge required 
for better work performances. In turn, 
they returned with more fervour in 
their jobs and motivated to attain 
new heights in the field of special 
education. 

Vocational Graduates
Celebrating the graduation of the 
second cohort of students from our 
ISC Programme, we were pleased 
to announce 21 graduates on 16 
November 2010 to recognise their 
completion of studies at Metta 
School. Out of the lot, 20 were from 
the Vocational Training Programme 
and they had completed ITE Skills 

Certificate training in Baking, Food 
Preparation or Housekeeping 
successfully. 
 All of them have been offered 
employment in various places including 
hotels, restaurants, food outlets and 
family business. Those who qualify for 
further training have enrolled to attend 
ITE in the following year. 
 Aside from our graduates, 171 
students from all levels were awarded 
prizes that day for their improved 
performances in both academic 
and non-academic areas. Amongst 
them, four were awarded with the 
highest honour for achieving an overall 
outstanding performance in various 
areas.  
 Like a proud parent, we were 
heartened to see our graduates 

equipped with the necessary skills, 
ready to leave their nests for ventures in 
the social world. We wish them the best 
in all their future endeavors. 

Community Partnerships
To provide our students with guidance 
beyond their years in Metta School, we 
are constantly seeking out and working 
with industry partners and community 
counterparts to offer suitable 
apprenticeships and vocational 
preparation programmes.
 To prep our students to integrate 
into the workforce upon their 
graduation, Geylang Serai Community 
Club Youth Executive Council 
organised an outdoor adventure 
activity for them to partake in. In June 
2010, 20 students travelled to Malaysia 
with 20 volunteers from the council; 
each with an accompanying buddy. 
 The trip helped our students build 
up their confidence and social skills, 
at the same time, motivated them to 
not give up in the face of an arduous 
path. Bringing them out of their comfort 
zone, our students had an educational 
experience, giving them an idea of 
how working life could be like. 
 We were thankful to receive the 
funding of $14,000 from Geylang Serai 
Citizens’ Consultative Committee, 

Construction of school extension building in process. Looking forward to its completion!
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People’s Association Youth Movement 
and the Lee Foundation, to make this 
activity possible.  
 In the same year, we were 
delighted and grateful to have Marina 
Bay Sands (MBS) joined us as an 
industry partner to offer apprenticeships 
to our students as part of their 
corporate social responsibility efforts. 
Under the two-year on-the-job training 
agreement, MBS extended internships 
to six of our students in 2010. 
 In the course of their internships, 
they were assigned to work in hotel 
operations, housekeeping and as 
pastry chefs. MBS had also expressed 
that good performance during the 
attachment programme could result in 
future job placements. 
 A month after our joint venture 
with MBS has been officiated, Han’s 
(F&B) Pte Ltd inked its third training 
partnership with Metta School. Since 
the beginning of our collaboration in 
2008, the F&B chain has not only been 
offering work attachments for our 
students, they also offer full-time job 
placements for them based on their 
on-job performances.
 In a strong show of support for 
Metta School’s vocational training 
programme, Crowne Plaza Changi 
Airport (CPCA) signed an agreement 

on 13 January 2011 to extend the 
partnership for another two years. 
In the previous year, our vocational 
trainees from the food preparation and 
housekeeping programmes benefitted 
immensely from the workshops initiated 
by CPCA and Royal Plaza on Scotts. 
We are grateful for the continuous 
collaboration in providing our students 
with lifelong practical working skills

Reading Mastery Programme
A reading programme designed to 
provide intensive and systematic 
phonics instruction, the Reading 
Mastery Signature Edition for Grade K 
(RM-K) helps early readers understand 
how letters are linked to sounds 
(phonemes) so as to form letter-sound 
correspondence and spelling patterns.
 It was a reading project piloted 

by the MOE in 2009 to help students 
aged seven to 12 years old with 
mild intellectual disability who face 
reading difficulties. Through the RM-K 
programme, they acquired phonemic 
awareness and learnt letter-sound 
correspondence, before advancing 
to word-, passage- and oral-reading in 
that order. 
 With conscientious coaching 
by our teaching staff, these students 
have made significant progress 
in reading with positive outcomes 
in other curricular areas since the 
commencement of the programme. 

Staff Development 
In Metta School, we believe the only 
way to provide our students with a 
comprehensive and holistic education 
is to continuously upgrade our most 

In appreciation of Richemont Luxury 

(Singapore)’s donation of $15,000  to the 

Community Chest in favour of the Metta 

School, a batik painting was presented to 

Richemont’s CEO Mr John Werner.  

࿭ߚອ৛ႊ಼ख़Ǆቤଝຸǅ௮౒1ᅺ5໻Ꮔ৊ቤ
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valuable resource – teaching staff. 
Only by advancing our staff from time 
to time through various trainings can 
we keep abreast of current issues, 
trends and developments in the sphere 
of special education. 
 In September 2010, we sent 10 
teaching personnel on a study trip 
to Hong Kong. Through the trip, they 
experienced various innovative 
practices, diverse perspectives and 
challenges relating to pre-vocational 
training for special needs children in 
different special schools. This gave 
them some ideas to explore in efforts to 
develop efficacious teaching methods. 
 Learning they were not alone in 
facing some common challenges in 
the field had certainly motivated the 
teaching staff to overcome them with 
more resolve. All of them found the trip 

enriching and helpful in attaining their 
work goals. On top of that, witnessing 
how other special needs educators 
work with their students through a 
looking glass had also been inspiring to 
them.
 During the exchange programme, 
the teaching staff were glad to 
share their expertise in this area with 
like-minded counterparts based in 
Hong Kong. Most of them found 
the experience eye-opening and 
managed to bring home numerous 
learning pointers and suggestions 
shared by the Hong Kong special 
schools they visited. 

FutuRE DiREctioNS
Currently, we are looking forward to 
the completion of the building of an 
annexe to the existing school building, 

which the piling and ground work 
had begun in June 2011. Besides 
the exciting new outlook that will 
materialise in a couple of years, both 
our students and staff can expect to 
have better facilities and resources 
in the school. The improved learning 
environment aims to enhance our 
students’ capacity of learning by 
meeting their developmental and 
training needs in various programmes.
 Upon the completion of the 
new building, we hope to nurture 
our children in a more conducive 
environment, making learning more 
effective and purposeful while keeping 
abreast of the ever-changing society. 
 With the intent of focusing on 
equipping our students with practical 
skills, we will also step up in our 
vocational training. This is to advocate 
the goal to lead an independent 
and meaningful life after they have 
graduated. We want our students to be 
able to utilise the practical living skills 
they have acquired in Metta School 
to carve out a living for themselves. 
To achieve the objective, we are 
implementing an extra vocational class 
a week in 2011 for our students to learn 
skills like housekeeping and cooking. 

Sharing the moment of victory at the peak of 

Mount Kinabulu to show that impossible is 

nothing for the Metta School scouts. 

ࠢ਒ኧቅᄷᔇంࡿ࿟யกگറ࿍Ǆᒦਪਁঐ

࿍ǅǈৢሱࡿख़ࡼဒಽƽᑚጐመာ࣪Ⴧඣऎ

ዔǈ඗ᎌဠඐဵݙభถࡼƽ
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Morning Session Staff ࿟ᇍۂᒆᏋ

1st row (from left)

Philip Lau, Conrade Kem, Ng Mooi Fung, Yvonne Tan, Salamah Yusof,  Anuwar Abdul Wahab, Yong Soo Cheng, 
Noraini Mohd, Siti Masita Selamat, Alice Cheong, Vasantha Kumari, Pang Shea Lee
2nd row (from left)

Tan Mui Hui, Uma Joseph, Lim Pei Ling, Dellia Teo, Zoe Tan, Yap Tuan Bin, Amir Hamzah Abd Wahab, Jasmine Ng, 
Serene Yap, Wong Soi Moi, Florence Tan, Nora Nurdin, Ika Lestari Sabtu, Ardaleena Mohd Sanip, Norhaiza Yep Abu, 
Janney Choo
3rd row (from left)

Lee Mi Li, Selina Teo, Siew Kar Luen, Winston Wong, Mar Lloyd, Pritam Kaur, Raymond Low, Edmund Lim, 
Heng Wee Khng, Rick Tan, Adrian Oh, Vivien Tang, Ivy Yeo
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Afternoon Session Staff ሆᇍۂᒆᏋ

1st row (from left)

Toh Siew Wan, Chin Yew Jing, Leonard Lau, Mary Lim, Gloria Raquiza, Yong Soo Cheng, Liu Ho Pui Han, 
Boey Souk Min, Tan Bee Ngah, Noraini Silan, Irene Ong, Lek Mui Sim
2nd row (from left)

Tan Tien Seng, Nicole Ting, Amy Chia, Jobina Chia, Felicia Tay, Ng Sock Bee, Vanaja, Siti Munirah, Margaret Su, 
Azizah, Jean Pang, Angie Chua, Saadiah, Andy Lim, Noah Tan, James Sek, Lau Yock Lam, Toh Lay Heong
3rd row (from left)

Jean Wong, Arul Raj, Lee Wee Tiong, Tan Buay Luan, Eva Hong, Dawn Tan, Marilyn Tan, Lee Hua Sim, Joey Kua, 
Carine Tiew, Siti Ermah, Hamidah Martoh, Jegethiswari, Maria Soo, Joy Benedict Chiu, Sharon Norhazeline
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
The Metta Alumni was formed in 2007 
to continue imparting graduates 
of Metta School with life skills that 
promote integration, independence 
and employment.
 Our maiden initiative was 
Arts@Metta – a training arm which 
mission is to provide equal access to 
enriching artistic endeavours for these 
youths, while creating related training-
cum-employment opportunities under 
a sustainable framework.
 Its key thrusts are:
• To cultivate the artistic talents of 

youths with special needs
• To provide a safe, open and 

nurturing environment where their 
talents can thrive

• To implement effective training 
programmes and support 
services that benefit their holistic 
development

• To develop a sustainable model of 
supported employment for these 
youths

 Visual arts classes are held on 
weekdays from 10 am to 3 pm in an 
arts studio located within the Metta 
Building. 
 Our programmes enable trainees 
to further their mastery of visual arts - 
namely batik painting and pottery - in 

a creative and inclusive environment, 
paving avenues for self-expression and 
personal development.
 In the process, they learn 
to uphold proper decorum and 
assimilate concepts such as service 
attitude, work quality, punctuality, task 
completion, handling of job load and 
time management.
 We provide a safety net for 
them who are unable to seek open 
employment by leveraging on 
commissioned projects and retail sales 
to help fund supported employment, 
thereby empowering them with hope 
and dignity.

Support Services Available
• Individual and group therapy
• Counselling
• Soft skills training
• Social programmes

Handcrafted Collection
We nurture and support our members 
to become artisans skilled in unique 
craftswork. Under the guidance of 
professional instructors, our artists have 
created a distinctive lifestyle label 
that boasts a quality collection of 
batik accessories and elegant pottery 
pieces that are currently retailed 
online and at The Esplanade Shop, 
Chinatown Social Enterprise and 
Aranya Gallery in Buddha Tooth Relic 
Temple and Museum, (Suntec shop to 
be included later). 
 Their flourishing artistry has also 
gained recognition from corporate 
partners the likes of UOB Private 
Banking, Singapore Pools, Raffles 
Town Club and General Insurance 
Association. 
 All artworks are exquisitely 
handmade, bearing individual artist’s 
creative imprint. We also provide 

The facilities and activities in Metta Alumni. 
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customisation of artwork designs for 
individual and corporate clients. 
Turning personalised gift ideas into 
attractive lifestyle items through 
quality design and production, we 
help businesses align their corporate 
branding with a social purpose.

ACHIEVEMENTS
The year in review witnessed the 
expansion of our operations to 
encompass alumni, counselling and 
therapy programmes. (Write-up on 
Suntec shop opening to be advised by 
Felicia later)

Alumni Services
Since 2004, the Metta School has 
produced five graduate cohorts 

totaling 108 alumni. In order to render 
them appropriate support in terms of 
transition planning and post-education 
needs, the Alumni Services was set up 
to help them maintain ties with their 
alma mater.
 For a start, a clubhouse was 
outfitted to house facilities like 
computer terminals and a TV set-
cum-Wii game console to provide 
Internet access as well as social and 
recreational opportunities for alumni 
members. 
 Coming on stream are mentorship 
and befriending programmes, training 
resources and team activities, in 
addition to gatherings and events that 
enable them to connect with their 
school mates. Our alumni services are 

offered on a membership basis for any 
graduate who is keen to participate. 
 A recruitment drive was held 
during the Metta School 10th 
Anniversary Family Day on 30 April 
2011. Around 37% of the alumni who 
attended the celebratory occasion 
signed up as members.

New Facilities and Programmes
In December 2010, we expanded and 
refurbished our premises to include 
an arts studio and sales gallery in 
anticipation of a growing training 
cohort and product range. The costs 
were defrayed by a portion of the 
$34,000 seed funding donated by 
Baxter Singapore in October 2010.
 By May 2011, our trainee base 
increased twofold from four to eight. 
To better address their psychosocial 
needs, counselling and expressive art 
programmes were introduced to assist 
them in transition planning. Individual 
and group therapies were conducted, 
focusing on areas like social interaction, 
managing relationships, sexuality 
awareness and personal effectiveness.
 New trainees, in particular, were 
guided on transition management, as 
they had been away from school for 
some time after graduation. Helping 
them get accustomed to new training 

Our Metta Alumni youths were playing good 

hosts to their visitors.

ଂᆡ࿖ቦࡼ௮ᓐཽိࡵषࠢ਒ቅᎍݝǈᎧকݝ
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content, work environment, peers 
and tasks is necessary, for it minimises 
behavioural issues and emotional 
unsettledness on their part, while 
facilitating group assimilation.

Corporate Social Responsibility 
Projects
For the third year running, XL Insurance 
appointed Metta as the beneficiary 
for its Global Day of Giving. Carried 
out in tandem with XL Capital Ltd’s 
Global Day of Giving, this social 
project is dedicated to supporting the 
communities in which XL companies 
operate. 
 Arts@Metta was fortunate to 
be the recipient of its goodwill for 
Year 2011. The collaboration which 
took place on 16 May saw 11 youth 
members from Arts@Metta guiding 18 
staff volunteers in batik painting and 
pottery making. Besides showcasing 
their talents in these visual arts, the 
interactive session allowed the youths 
to build up their social skills and 
confidence. 
 For the volunteers who tried their 
hands on these unique art forms for 
the first time, it was an enriching and 
prolific session as they collectively 
crafted 26 pottery cups and seven 
paintings within half a day.

 Deserving mention among them 
was Mr Kevin Rajah who raised $1,500 
through his “sacrificial act” prior to the 
Day of Giving. Having gallantly shaved 
off his moustache of more than 20 
years in support of his colleagues’ 

fundraising idea, he garnered $750 
from them which was matched dollar 
for dollar by XL Insurance. The cheque 
donation was presented by XL’s 
Regional Manager Asia, Mr Andrew 
Vigar, who commended Arts@Metta 

Coaching our Alumni youths patiently was our 

batik instructress, Mdm Rukumah Bte Mohd 

Yosop. 

౱཰ઙጳၣࡴန Rukumah Bte Mohd Yosop ๆ
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and its members in his thank-you 
speech. 
 A week later on 24 May, we were 
proud to host a leadership session 
held by the Civil Service College 
(CSC) in conjunction with global 
people development firm, Impact 
International.

 Its General Manager James 
Hick, along with a team of seven 
facilitators from CSC, delved into the 
social enterprise model and explored 
opportunities and challenges faced 
by Arts@Metta. They then shared their 
insights and findings with us following 
their session.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS 
The training cohort for Arts@Metta 
looks set to increase to 15 by 2012. 
Following the inclusion of more 
programmes and activities, training 
hours will be extended from 9.30 am 
to 4 pm. 
 On the other hand, retail 
opportunities for us look promising as 
we have secured a rent-free unit in 
Suntec City Mall under the support of 
Community Chest. The unit comes with 
an attached vestibule that is ideal for 
conducting batik painting workshops 
and art demonstrations. Following its 
commencement on 19 July 2011, we 
will strive to achieve favourable results 
in the next couple of months. 
 Moving ahead, an Employment 
Support Centre will be formed under 
the auspices of Temasek Cares, 
which will pledge $150,000 towards 
its operation cost come October 
2011. Besides job placement, this new 
initiative will focus on soft skills training, 
career counselling and financial 
management skills for all graduates of 
Metta School.

Pottery extraordinaire, Mr Teo Boon Gim, can 

make any unpolished gems sparkle, including 

Alumni trainee Luqman Nur Hakim Bin Anu.  

ऻदჿጳနᐽᆪ஝ǄᐶᑗǅᏴ୴ࡴჿጳ࿟ǈభ

ᆣถဧᆚளᓵෟۦࡼဝ࿑ႄǈ۞౪୴ࠢࡴ਒ቅ
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Metta Building (Level 4) 32 Simei St 1 S(529950)
Tel: 6580 4688/4656   Fax: 6580 4699    
Email: alumni@metta.org.sg
Retail: 3 Temasek Boulevard #03-26E & 03-78
 Suntec City Mall S(238164)

Like us on
 www.facebook.com/MettaAlumni 
 www.facebook.com/ArtsAtMetta
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PROGRAMMES & SERVICES
The Metta Buddhist Culture 
Department was established on 1 
January 2009 to fulfil the following 
objectives of the services provided. 
• To promulgate Buddhism and 

compassionate giving
• To uphold benevolence and 

kindness through volunteerism and 
community outreach 

• To be self-sufficient in funding our 
religious, educational and social 
endeavours as well as to help 
defray the operational costs of 
Metta’s welfare centres

Buddhist Services
Conveniently scheduled during the 
weekends and accessibly housed 
within the Metta School, our dharma 
programmes cater for Buddhists from 
various age groups.
• Mandarin Dharma Classes: Dharma 

classes are conducted for children 
and teens between the ages of six 
and 14 years on Sundays. In these 
classes, they learn about Buddhist 
teachings and the moral principles 
that are applicable in their daily 
lives. Adult dharma classes are held 
on Saturday evenings.  

• English Dharma Course: This course 

is conducted every Saturday 
evening to educate and explore 
basic Buddhist principles.

• Sutra-Chanting Ceremonies: Weekly 
ceremonies are conducted via two 
consecutive sessions every Sunday 
in the multi-purpose hall of Metta 
Building. In addition, religious rituals 
are held to commemorate Buddhist 
festivals and the birth anniversaries 
of various Bodhisattvas.

• Taking of Eight Precepts: 
Conducted four times a year, 
devotees can join in the taking of 
eight precepts at the multi-purpose 
hall. The course encourages 
participants to adhere by the 
Buddhist eight precepts for 12 hours, 
from 8 am to 8 pm. 

• Dharma Instrument Classes: Classes 
are held every Friday evening at 
the multipurpose hall, for devotees 
to learn religious music and 
pick up a dharma instrument to 
accompany the music. 

• Compassionate Endeavours: The 
department organised the releasing 
of lives, a compassionate activity 
that stems from the Buddhist tenets 
of benevolence and protection 
for all forms of life, once every few 
months. To further our humanitarian 
cause, local and overseas voluntary 

Working out is not just for the young. 

2010ฤ7Ꮬ10ᒗ11྇ǈࠢ਒।୴ᆪછݝ၅ࠨਜ਼
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missions are conducted to fulfil 
welfare goals and promote the spirit 
of giving. Festival celebrations and 
overseas trips were also organised 
throughout the year to foster bonds 
and rapport among our devotees, 
course members and volunteers.

ACHIEVEMENTS
In the fiscal year 2010/2011, under 
the leadership of Metta’s Executive 
Director, Venerable Shi Pu En, the 
Buddhist Culture Department saw an 
increase in activities organised, as 
well as the number of people who 
partake in the classes and activities. 
Throughout the year, the department 
had also put together meaningful 
activities and events that touched the 
hearts of many, making a significant 
contribution to the society. 

Dharma Talks
Several Chinese and English dharma 
talks were conducted free of charge 
for the public in the past year. Through 
these talks, many were able to 
participate in open discussions with 
our distinguished speakers, namely 
Venerable Sik Chuan Guan from the 
Singapore Buddhist Federation and 
our resident sangha Venerable Shi Pu 
Kang. We were also honoured to have 

Venerable Kanugolle Rathanasara 
from the Sri Lankaramaya Buddhist 
Temple conduct our English dharma 
talks.  

Releasing of Lives
This meaningful event took place 
twice over the past financial year, 
each time releasing the lives of various 
aquatic animals at different locations. 
On 10 October 2010, along with 230 
devotees, about 600 kilograms of 
crabs were released at the mangrove 
swamps in Pulau Tekong. The second 
round of lives releasing was held on 22 
May 2011, in tandem with Vesak Day, 
at Sembawang SAF Yacht Club. A 
total of 650 kilograms of pomfrets were 
released that day.
 

Dharma Symposium
The Buddhist Culture Department 
organised an inaugural symposium 
covering the topic of Zen Buddhism 
and its physical and mental wellness 
over two days, from 10 to 11 July 
2010. The objective of the event is to 
teach participants what they can do 
to cultivate a peaceful state of mind 
while keeping in good physical shape. 
 Speaking at the symposium 
were a handful of experts from Hong 
Kong including Venerable Ding Xian, 
Gahapati Wang Yu Ling and Dr. Lee 
Yun Na. Our distinguished speakers 
engaged the participants with various 
dharma topics and shared several 
work-out techniques that can be 
practised at home. 

Well done, contestants of the inaugural 

Dharma Singing Competition!

ཝਪ၅ஔખᎫ।ཎ঺ަྮࡍĐࠢᏩ਒ીđࡍࡼ
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Dharma Singing Competition
After going through the preliminary 
round and semi finals held from 
October to November 2010, the 
finalists competed on 25 December 
2010 at the Singapore Buddha Tooth 
Relic Temple. Winners emerging from 
the competition were Huang Xian 
Wen, Xiu Qi and Xiao Yu Lian in the 
categories for children, youths and 
adults respectively.
 Citing from Buddhist scriptures, 
Metta’s President Venerable Shi 
Fa Zhao encouraged everyone to 
sing dharma hymns for worshipping 

purposes during the welcome note. To 
further raise awareness of those tunes, 
Buddhist Culture Department spent 
a month to compile 1,000 copies of 
a commemorative album, consisting 
of thirteen dharma songs sang by the 
winners and outstanding finalists in 
the competition. The album was later 
retailed for $16 each to raise funds for 
the department’s education funds. 

Festive Celebrations
Adding bustle and memorable 
moments to our activity calendar 
were numerous lively celebrations 

and enjoyable overseas trips, offering 
ample opportunities for our members 
to network and bond with each other: 
• Lunar New Year Celebration: 

On 2 February 2011, we drew 
a crowd of over 500 people to 
celebrate Lunar New Year with 
us at our multi-purpose hall. On 
top of the delectable vegetarian 
buffet spread prepared by our 
20 dedicated volunteers was 
the half an hour long lion dance 
performance that kick-started the 
event on a high note. After which, 
everyone joined in the indispensible 
New Year activity – tossing of yu-
sheng, while enjoying the on-going 
singing performances on the stage. 

  Encouraged by the festive 
ambience, the wife of Metta’s 
Deputy Executive Director Mr Ee 
Tiang Hwee also contributed a 
singing performance, inadvertently 
becoming the highlight of the day. 
The event was wrapped up with the 
last of the lucky draws, which were 
strategically carried out in parts to 
keep the participants in anticipation 
throughout. 

• Mothers’ Day Appreciation 
Luncheon: Holding this luncheon for 
the second year on 1 May 2011 to 
express our appreciation to all the 

Along with Venerable Shi Pu En, the department 

had a wonderful time interacting with the old 

folks at Tai Pei Old People’s Home.  

2010ฤ9Ꮬ19྇࿟ᇍǈᏴ໋ऍနঊࡒࡼഌሆǈ
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mothers on this special occasion 
dedicated to them, we garnered 
a high turnout this time round. We 
were very fortunate to engage 
a group of helpful volunteers 
to prepare a smorgasbord 
of Peranakan desserts for the 
attendees to indulge in. 

 Starting the programme was the 
singing of the Happy Birthday song 
by a group of sangha, helmed 
by Venerable Sik Chuan Guan. 
Subsequently, all the children and 
youths began to present their 
mothers with the carnations they 
have prepared prior to the event, 
immediately filling the entire hall 
with love. Further touching the 
mothers was each of the carefully 
planned programmes that day, 
designed to make these women 
feel special and important. 

• Trip to Kukup, Malaysia: We 
organised a two-day-one-night trip 
to Kukup from 11 to 12 June 2011 for 
durians lovers to enjoy the king of 
fruits. Attracting participation from a 
whopping 130 people, this trip was 
not one to disappoint. The exciting 
programmes included visiting a fish 
farm, releasing of lives, having a 
platter of durians and other fruits, 
barbeque, playing with fireworks 

and releasing of Kong-Ming lanterns, 
singing of Karaoke and shopping.  

Outreach Missions
The year in review saw several 
large-scaled missionary activities, 
conducted both locally and on 
foreign lands. The main objective of 

these activities was to provide welfare 
to the less fortunate, regardless of 
where they were based in. 
• Pilgrimage-cum-Historic Tour 

in Cambodia: The department 
organised a seven-days-six nights 
pilgrimage-cum-historic tour in 
Cambodia from 13 to 19 November 

Buddhist devotees performing the “three steps, 

one bow” ritual piously.   
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2010. It garnered the interest of 
84 devotees, Metta staff and 
sangha from various temples, 
who signed up for the tour. Led by 
Metta resident sangha, the group 
went on a pilgrimage to Buddhist 
monasteries and pagodas and 
make oblations to native monks 
in Phnom Penh and Siem. They 
also distributed rations and daily 
necessities to needy children 
staying in an orphanage. Besides 
those activities, they also found 
time to do some sight-seeing, 
including one of the seven world’s 
wonders, Angkor Wat and Angkor 
Thom.  

• Visit to Tai Pei Old People’s Home: 
With Venerable Shi Pu En helming 
a group of nearly 60 Metta staff 
and volunteers, a visit to Tai Pei 

Old People’s Home was arranged 
on 19 September 2010, Sunday. 
After passing the food rations, daily 
necessities and red packets to the 
Home’s residents, the group spent 
the rest of the time to befriend the 
106 old folks housed there, aged 
65 to 104 years old, and spread the 
cheer and warmth to them. 

• Appreciation Dinner: Before the 
Lunar New Year in 2011, a dinner 
was organised specially for the 
volunteers who had worked tirelessly 
with us, as a token to show our 
appreciation.  

FUTURE DIRECTIONS
Besides continuously promoting our 
existing services, we also strive to 
promote the participation of children 
and youths in the courses we offer. This 

is to involve them in Buddhist activities 
and inculcate religious understanding 
and principles in them. We have set 
up a liturgical class for children and 
youths on June 2011, to reach out 
to them through the art of Buddhist 
music. Additionally, to meet adults’ 
demand to attend the liturgical 
class, a new class will be set up in 
September 2011 for the older learners.
 In the pipeline is the offering of 
a new programme commencing in 
December 2011, which takes in young 
boys from nine to 16 years of age to 
experience a short period of Buddhist 
monasticism. Riding on this year’s 
success, we will be holding the second 
dharma singing competition during 
the year end period of 2011. 
 Lastly, a prayer group will be 
formed on September 2011 to provide 
chanting services for Metta supporters 
at funerals or wakes of their deceased 
family members. They will give 
spiritual support and guidance to the 
bereaved family while they acquire 
and share merits with the deceased. 

The activities in Metta Buddhist Culture Department. 
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Metta Building (Level 2) 32 Simei St 1 S(529950)
Tel: 6580 4630/4631   Fax: 6580 4699    
Email: pohhoushun@metta.org.sg

 Like us on
 www.facebook.com/MettaBuddhistCulture
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LUNAR 7TH MONTH CHARITY AUCTIONS
10 August – 7 September 2010, Islandwide
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Metta Charity Banquet regaled the 
palates of philanthropic diners with 
a delectable spread whipped up 
by culinary geniuses of Huo Yow 
Cooks’ Association for the 13th year 
in running. This yearly affair was 
honoured to engage the expertise 
of the association out of a charitable 
contribution to our good cause for 
the very first time. Additionally, they 
collaborated with us to produce 
a commemorative publication 
containing recipes for all the eight 
dishes served during the banquet and 
was retailed at $10 to raise funds. The 
fact that the chefs did not specialise 
in creating vegetarian dishes certainly 
did not deter them from producing 
remarkably scrumptious dishes, as 
they were aesthetically pleasing and 
nutritious. Culminating to the evening’s 
highlight was an auction that 
garnered $21,500 worth of bids for two 
batik paintings crafted by the Metta 
Alumni. Graced by Guest-of-Honour 
Ms Jessica Tan, MP for East Coast GRC 
and advisor to East Coast GRC GROs, 
the event raised over $180,000 at 
curtain call.  

HUO YOW COOKS’ ASSOCIATION-METTA CHARITY BANQUET 2010
8 October 2010, Metta Building
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METTA SHINE NIGHT
20 November 2010, ITE College East 

It was an exciting night for the 124 
Metta School students who were 
fervent to showcase their talents in the 
theatrical arts. Organised for the 7th 
year, the event was as well-received 
as its preceding years. Entertaining 
the audience were outstanding 
performances put up by the school’s 
gamelan, percussion, angklung, 
handbell and Chinese orchestra 
and wushu teams. Not forgetting the 
exceptional contemporary solo recitals 
and a Broadway dance performance 
put up by the ITE students. Leading 
to the grand finale of the evening 
programme line-up was the musical 
“The Cinderbella Experience”. The 
comedic acting performances by 
the students and teachers were so 
convincing they elicited unremitting 
guffaws. Heartened by the students’ 
tremendous growth in confidence 
proving their disabilities were no 
deterrence to master the arts, Guest-
of-Honour Mr Alex Lee (JP), an NCSS’ 
board member, lauded their efforts 
and commended the school for 
nurturing their potential.
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CHARITY BENEFIT NIGHT 
27 November 2010, Metta Building

To celebrate the 25thh anniversary 
of the establishment of his talent 
management company, the 
founder Mr Wu Kun Jie who was 
also a renowned singer and local 
TV personality in the 80s, hosted a 
Charity Benefit Night at the multi-
purpose hall located within the Metta 
building. However, it was the fund-
raising effort by Mr Wu that was truly 
commendable; with him dedicating 
the nett proceeds collected from 
the sales of banquet tables to Metta 
Preschools. Throughout the dinner, 
Mr Wu’s talent team entertained 
the diners with their melodious 
tunes, in which Mr Wu himself had 
also contributed an hour of his solo 
performance with his nostalgic 
songs well-liked in the 60s and 70s. 
Culminating to the highlight of the 
event, Mr Wu impressed the audience 
with his remarkable performance 
of arranging a vase of flowers while 
singing; the vase of lotus was being 
subsequently auctioned off for $8000. 
Concluding the event on a high note, 
he raised another $3000 by letting 
go a gold-plated Buddha statue to a 
generous bidder
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Riding on the joyous atmosphere 
of Lunar New Year, we brought our 
patrons together to attend this festive 
reunion at the Metta building to toss 
yu sheng. This event was also held to 
express our appreciation towards our 
dedicated donors and supporters; 
consisting of a mishmash of people 
from all walks of life, diverse cultures, 
nationalities and races. The event 
was kick-started with a blessing 
ritual presided by Venerable Shi Pu 
En, after which everyone began 
tossing and flipping the yu sheng with 
fervour while articulating auspicious 
Chinese phrases and idioms. When 
the animated tossing of the cold 
dish concluded, everyone started on 
the luncheon while indulging in the 
merriment of the festival. 

LUNAR NEW YEAR LOU HEI BUFFET LUNCHEON
9 February 2011, Metta Building
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The yearly Metta Charity Walk cum 
Family Carnival has once again 
proven to be a successful event 
garnering support from various 
sponsors and donors, concluding 
the event with $147,000 collected, 
surpassing its initial target of $100,000. 
Our sponsors and donors included 
big names like Standard Chartered 
Bank, Keppel FELS, Marina Bay Sands 
and TES-AMM. Marking the beginning 
of the event was the three-kilometre 
Metta Charity Walk led by guest-
of-honour Jessica Tan, MP for East 
Coast GRC. After which, everyone 
proceeded to the carnival grounds 
to enjoy an array of activities – stage 
performances, children games and 
patronising food and retail stalls. 
Everyone went home with something; 
delicious treats, an enjoyable time and 
some even with lucky draw goodies.

METTA CHARITY WALK CUM FAMILY CARNIVAL 
20 March 2011, Metta School/Metta Building
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METTA SCHOOL 10TH ANNIVERSARY 
30 April 2011, Metta School

To celebrate its 10th anniversary 
milestone, Metta School organised a 
Family Day cum Carnival and invited 
its students, graduates, volunteers 
and staff to have fun on this joyous 
occasion with their families and 
friends. Beginning the event on a high 
note, Venerable Shi Pu En addressed 
the significance of the occasion 
and congratulated the school for 
its achievement. Alike the annual 
carnival held at Metta building, it 
was a fun extravaganza for both 
the children and adults. There was a 
myriad of games, performances and 
food for everyone to indulge in.
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METTA CHARITY RUN
4 June 2011, East Coast Park

It was yet another successful 
fund raising event for Metta. We 
managed to garner support of 
kind participants from all walks of 
life to partake in Metta’s second 
charity run while raising funds for the 
organisation’s operational costs. We 
also received well responses from 
several corporate groups which sent 
their employees to take part in the 
event. The organisations included 
Singapore Pools, Trafigura Pte Ltd, 
FedEx Trade Networks Transport & 
Brokerage (Singapore) Pte Ltd, Bank 
of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ (Singapore) 
and Agency for Integrated Care. 
Even for those who did not partake in 
the race enjoyed themselves at the 
mini bazaar, where there were stage 
performances, food stalls, games and 
retail booths for everyone.
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Moving into the 12th year of 
collaboration with our two title 
sponsors, Keppel Offshore & Marine 
and Keppel Integrated Engineering, 
the Metta Charity Golf event gathered 
over 240 golfers to support our good 
cause this year. With such a high 
turnout, we managed to receive more 
than $230,000 in sum from the sales 
of the golf flights. Joining us for the 
dinner banquet after the tournament 
was our Guest-of-Honour Mr Lui Tuck 
Yew, Minister for Transport and Second 
Minister for Foreign Affairs, who was 
attending this event for the first time. 
The highlight of the evening was the 
outstanding performance put up by 
one of Metta School’s student, Jozie 
Keok, who won undivided attention 
from everyone with Michael Bolton’s 
“Go the Distance”. 

KEPPEL OFFSHORE & MARINE/KEPPEL INTEGRATED ENGINEERING - METTA CHARITY GOLF 2011
22 July 2011, Raffles Country Club
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Operations Review
 
Donations Received for Financial Year 2010/11

63.27% Metta Headquarters

15.1% Metta Preschool 

10.18% Metta Hospice Care

5.87% Metta Home for the Disabled 
 & Metta Day Activity Centre

2.8% Metta Day Rehabilitation Centre 
 for the Elderly

2.03% Metta Day Activity Centre 
 for the Intellectually Disabled

0.75% Metta Student Care Centre

Total Number Of Clients In Our Centres Daily
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Key Ratios

Reserves: Operating Expenses

Reserves (General Fund) : $ 2,570,510
Annualised Expenses : $ 8,523,810
Ratio : 0.3 (3.62 mths)

Reserves (Total) : $6,156,357
Annualised Expenses : $ 8,523,810
Ratio : 0.72 (9 mths)

Fund Raising Expenses : Fundraising Income
(Consolidated Year Ended 31 March 2011)

Fundraising Expenses + Overheads (100%) : $546,287
Fundraising Income + Donations : $2,204,617
Ratio : 25%

Conflict of Interest Policies
All Executive Committee members, Chairmen of Sub-Committees and senior staff members of Metta Welfare Association 
are required to read and understand the conflict of interest policy in place and make full disclosure of interests, 
relationships and holdings that could potentially result in a conflict of interest. When a conflict of interest situation arises, 
the member/staff shall abstain from participating in the discussion, decision making and voting on the matter.

Reserves Policy
The maximum operating reserves shall be 5 years of annual operating expenditure, with annual operating expenditure 
being 5 times the highest annual expenditure over the last 3 years. Operating reserves exclude all building/project funds, 
endowment and sinking funds.
 
Remuneration of the Management Committee
No member of the Management Committee has received any form of remuneration for his service rendered as a 
Management Committee member.
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Governance Evaluation Checklist (For Large IPCs)
For Period from 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011

 S/No. Code Description Code ID
 Compliance  

  Level

  BOARD GOVERNANCE
  
 A Are there Board members holding staff appointments?  No 
  (Skip items 1 and 2 if “No”)  

 1 If the governing instrument permits staff to become Board members, 1.1.2 –
  they should comprise not more than one-third of the Board.

 2 Staff does not chair the Board. 1.1.2 –

 3 There is a maximum limit of four consecutive years for the Treasurer 1.1.6 Complied
  position (or equivalent, e.g. Finance Committee Chairman).

 4 The Board conducts regular self-evaluation to assess its performance  1.1.10 Complied 
  and effectiveness. 

 5 The Board has an audit committee (or designated Board members)   1.2.1 Complied
  with documented terms of reference.  

 6 The Board meets regularly with a quorum of at least one-third or at least  1.3.1 Complied
  three members, whichever is greater (or as required by the governing 
  instrument).
  

  CONFLICT OF INTEREST
     
 7 There are documented procedures for Board members and staff to  2.1 Complied
  declare actual or potential conflicts of interest to the Board.  
  
 8 Board members do not vote or participate in decision-making on  2.4 Complied
  matters where they have a conflict of interest.

  STRATEGIC PLANNING
  
 9 The Board reviews and approves the vision and mission of the charity.  3.1.1 Complied
  They are documented and communicated to its members and the 
  public.
 
 10 The Board approves and reviews a strategic plan for the charity to 3.2.2 Complied
  ensure that the activities are in line with its objectives.

  HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

 11 The Board approves documented human resource policies for staff.  5.1 Complied

 12 There are systems for regular supervision, appraisal and professional 5.6 Complied
  development of staff.

 13 There is a system to address grievances and resolve conflicts. 5.13 Complied
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S/No. Code Description Code ID

 Compliance  
  Level

  FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND CONTROLS
  
 14 The Board ensures internal control systems for financial matters are in  6.1.2 Complied
  place with documented procedures.

 15 The Board ensures reviews on the charity’s controls, processes, key  6.1.3 Complied
  programmes and events.

 16 The Board approves an annual budget for the charity’s plans and  6.2.1 Complied
  regularly monitors its expenditure.

 17 The charity discloses its reserves policy in the annual report. 6.4.1 Complied

 B Does the charity invest its reserves?   Yes
  (Skip item 18 if “No”) 

 18 The charity invests its reserves in accordance with an investment policy  6.4.3 Complied
  approved by the Board. It obtains advice from qualified professional
  advisors, if deemed necessary by the Board.

  FUNDRAISING PRACTICES  

 19 Donations collected are properly recorded and promptly deposited by  7.2.2 Complied
  the charity. 

  DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY  

 20 The charity makes available to its stakeholders an annual report that  8.1 Complied
  includes information on its programmes, activities, audited financial 
  statements, Board members and executive management.

 C Are Board members remunerated for their Board services?  No
  (Skip items 21 and 22 if “No”) 

 21 No Board member is involved in setting his or her own remuneration. 2.2 –
  
 22 The charity discloses the exact remuneration and benefits received by  8.2 –
  each Board member in the annual report.

 D Does the charity employ paid staff?  Yes
  (Skip items 23 and 24 if “No”)  

 23 No staff is involved in setting his or her own remuneration. 2.2 Complied

 24 The charity discloses in its annual report the annual remuneration of its  8.3 Complied
  three highest paid staff who each receives remuneration exceeding 
  $100,000, in bands of $100,000. If none of its top three highest paid staff
  receives more than $100,000 in annual remuneration each, the charity
  discloses this fact.

  PUBLIC IMAGE  

 25 The charity accurately portrays its image to its members, donors and  9.1 Complied
  the public.   
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Non-Financial Information
 
Charity Status
The Metta Welfare Association was set up as a society with the Registry of Societies (ROS) on 13 July 1994. It was 
registered as a charity under the Charities Act on 9 March 1995.
 
Charity Registration Number: 01082
ROS Registration Number: 0285/1993WEL
Unique Entity Number: S94SS0081K

Institution of a Public Character (IPC)/Central Fund Status
Period: 2 May 2010 to 1 May 2013
IPC Reference No.: S94SS0081K
Member of Central Fund: NCSS Charitable Fund

Operational Details (as at 31 March 2011)
Number of Beneficiaries: 959
Number of Staff: 153

Registered Address
32 Simei Street 1
Metta Building
Singapore 529950
 
Executive Management Committee (Charity Trustees)
Ven Shi Fa Zhao - President
Ven Shi Pu Rui - First Vice President
Tan Ming Yong - Second Vice President
Tan Yen Kee - Honorary Secretary
Khua Kian Kheng, Ivan - Assistant Honorary Secretary
Tay Khin Sian, Anthony - Honorary Treasurer
Yeong Wai Chee, Raymond - Assistant Honorary Treasurer
Helen Tan - Committee Member
Lim Yew Si - Committee Member
Neo Siow Hong, Jason  - Committee Member
Ngiam Kee Yuan - Committee Member
Poh Yong Meng, Stephen - Committee Member
Tan Wui Khiang, Kevin - Committee Member
Tsang Siu For, Thomas - Committee Member
Woo Khai San, Victor  - Committee Member

Auditor
Fiducia LLP
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Statement by Executive Management Committee

In the opinion of the Executive Management Committee,
a)  the financial statements as set out on pages 91 to 113 are drawn up so as 

to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Association at 31 
March 2011, and of the results of the financial activities and changes in 
cash flows of the Association for the financial year then ended; and

b)  at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that 
the Association will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Executive Management Committee, comprising the following, authorised 
the issue of these financial statements on 26 August 2011.

Lai Meng Wah @ Shi Fa Zhao  President
See Seng Poon @ Shi Pu Rui  First Vice President
Tan Ming Yong  Second Vice President
Tan Yen Kee  Honorary Secretary
Khua Kian Kheng, Ivan  Assistant Honorary Secretary
Tay Khin Sian, Anthony  Honorary Treasurer
Yeong Wai Chee, Raymond  Assistant Honorary Treasurer
Tan Helen  Committee Member
Lim Yew Si  Committee Member
Neo Siow Hong  Committee Member
Ngiam Kee Yuan  Committee Member
Poh Yong Meng, Stephen  Committee Member
Tan Wui Khiang  Committee Member
Tsang Siu For, Thomas  Committee Member
Woo Khai San, Victor  Committee Member

On behalf of the Executive Management Committee,

Lai Meng Wah @ Shi Fa Zhao  Tay Khin Sian, Anthony
President Honorary Treasurer

Singapore,
26 August 2011
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Metta Welfare Association

We have audited the financial statements of Metta Welfare Association (the “Association”) set out on pages 91 to 113, 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011, the statement of financial activities, statement 
of changes in funds and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Societies Act (Chapter 311), Charities Act (Chapter 37) and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a responsible 
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition, that transactions are properly 
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair statement of financial 
activities and statement of financial position and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements of the Association are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 
Societies Act (Chapter 311), Charities Act (Chapter 37) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Association as at 31 March 2011, and the results, changes in funds and cash 
flows of the Association for the financial year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Association have been properly 
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that the 30% cap mentioned in regulation 15(1) of the 
Charities Act, Cap. 37 (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations 2007 and as amended by Charities (Institutions of a 
Public Character) (Amendments) Regulations 2008; has been exceeded.

Fiducia LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore,
26 August 2011
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2011 

    2011 2010
   Note $ $

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents  4  5,599,138  4,929,680
Trade and other receivables  5  580,472  503,293
Inventories   20,305  9,802
Long-term fixed deposits  6  180,000  0
Held-to-maturity investments  7  200,000  250,000
    6,579,915  5,692,775

Non-current assets
Long-term fixed deposits  6  0  180,000
Held-to-maturity investments  7  0  200,000
Property, plant and equipment  8  14,774,410  14,415,548
    14,774,410  14,795,548

Total Assets   21,354,325  20,488,323
       
LIABILITIES      

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  9  968,290  1,182,580
Deferred capital grants  10  463,198  395,075
    1,431,488  1,577,655

Non-current liabilities
Deferred capital grants  10  13,766,482  13,333,353

Total liabilities   15,197,970  14,911,008

NET ASSETS   6,156,355  5,577,315

FUNDS      
Unrestricted:
- General fund   2,570,508  2,040,604
- Investment fund  11  1,149,153  1,006,033
- Project account reserve  11  1,187,647  1,187,647
- Sinking fund  11  268,271  336,166
- Designated fund  11  324,768  301,686
    5,500,347  4,872,136

Restricted:
- Building fund  11  304,948  354,119
- Education trust fund  11  351,060  351,060
    656,008  705,179

Total funds   6,156,355  5,577,315
       

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Activities
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011 

 Unrestricted Fund
 Designated  Fund Restricted Fund 
     Project  Alumni Client    Metta Reserve Student  Education
   General Investment Account Sinking Welfare Welfare Equipment  Medicine School for Client Welfare Building Trust
   Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund HIV Fund Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Funds Total
  Note $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
  
2011
                   
INCOMING RESOURCES

Incoming resources from generating funds
- Activities for generating funds   12  1,198,099  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0 0  0 0  1,198,099
- Voluntary income   12  5,923,302  0  0  0  34,000  1,574  12,122  0  418  (211)  4,656  50,035  436,301  0  6,462,197
Incoming resources from charitable activities  12  1,954,282  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  1,954,282
Other incoming resources   12  110,104  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  110,104

Total incoming resources    9,185,787  0  0  0  34,000  1,574  12,122  0  418  (211)  4,656  50,035  436,301  0  9,724,682

RESOURCES EXPENDED

Cost of generating funds   13  443,816  0  0  0  40,765  623  0  0  150  0  8,307  70,432  485,472  0  1,049,565
Cost of charitable activities  13 7,821,546  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  7,821,546
Governance and other administrative costs  13 138,171  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  138,171

Total resources expended    8,403,533  0  0  0  40,765  623  0  0  150  0  8,307  70,432  485,472  0  9,009,282

NET INCOMING (EXPENDED) RESOURCES    782,254  0  0  0  (6,765)  951  12,122  0  268  (211)  (3,651)  (20,397)  (49,171)  0  715,400

2010
                   
INCOMING RESOURCES

Incoming resources from generating funds
- Activities for generating funds   12  1,757,137  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  1,757,137
- Voluntary income   12  5,550,041  0  0  0  0  5,012  13,500  18,000  347  124  4,595  136,941  537,933  0  6,266,493
Incoming resources from charitable activities  12  978,277  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  978,277
Other incoming resources   12  175,653  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  175,653

Total incoming resources    8,461,108  0  0  0  0  5,012  13,500  18,000  347  124  4,595  136,941  537,933  0  9,177,560

RESOURCES EXPENDED

Cost of generating funds   13  535,539  0  0  0  0  1,424  4,646  5,000  895  0  4,180  156,403  183,814  0  891,901
Cost of charitable activities  13 6,810,922  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  6,810,922
Governance and other administrative costs  13 78,850  0  0  1,207  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  80,057

Total resources expended    7,425,311  0  0  1,207  0  1,424  4,646  5,000  895  0  4,180  156,403  183,814  0  7,782,880

NET INCOMING (EXPENDED) RESOURCES    1,035,797  0  0  (1,207)  0  3,588  8,854  13,000  (548)  124  415  (19,462)  354,119  0  1,394,680

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes In Funds
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011 

       Unrestricted Fund
         Designated  Fund       Restricted Fund
   Project  Alumni Client    Metta Reserve Student Total Total  Education  Total
 General Investment Account Sinking Welfare Welfare Equipment HIV Medical School for Client Welfare Designated Unrestricted Building Trust Restricted Total
 Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds
 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

2011

Balance as at 1 April  2,040,604  1,006,033  1,187,647  336,166  0  6,940  8,854  13,000  4,286  122,095  4,665  141,846  301,686  4,872,136  354,119  351,060  705,179  5,577,315
Net incoming (expended) resources  782,254  0  0  0  (6,765)  951  12,122  0  268  (211)  (3,651)  (20,397)  (17,683)  764,571  (49,171)  0  (49,171)  715,400
Transfers  (252,350)  143,120  0  68,465  40,765  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  40,765  0  0  0  0  0
Capitalisation of major renovation 
      (Note 10)  0  0  0  (136,360)  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  (136,360)  0  0  0  (136,360)

Balance as at 31 March  2,570,508  1,149,153  1,187,647  268,271  34,000  7,891  20,976  13,000  4,554  121,884  1,014  121,449  324,768  5,500,347  304,948  351,060  656,008  6,156,355

2010

Balance as at 1 April  1,250,938  797,680  1,187,647  299,595  0  3,352  0  0  4,834  121,971  4,250  161,308  295,715 3,831,575  0  351,060  351,060  4,182,635
Net incoming (expended) resources  1,035,797  0  0  (1,207)  0  3,588  8,854  13,000  (548)  124 415  (19,462)  5,971  1,040,561  354,119  0  354,119  1,394,680
Transfers  (246,131)  208,353  0  37,778  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0

Balance as at 31 March  2,040,604  1,006,033  1,187,647  336,166  0  6,940  8,854  13,000  4,286  122,095  4,665  141,846  301,686  4,872,136  354,119  351,060  705,179  5,577,315

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



Financial Report 
ᑶۨসݤ

94

Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011 

    2011 2010
   Note $ $

Cash flows from operating activities    
Net incoming resources   715,400  1,394,680
Adjustments for:
- Amortisation of deferred capital grant  10  (400,016)  (396,663)
- Depreciation  8  518,405  504,266
- Interest income  12  (15,282)  (12,607)
- Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  13  517  0
Operating cash flow before working capital changes   819,024  1,489,676

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
- Trade and other receivables   (77,179)  (81,515)
- Inventories   (10,503)  1,220
- Trade and other payables   (214,290)  397,7699

Net cash provided by operating activities  517,052 1,807,150

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received   15,282  12,607
Proceeds from termination of investment   250,000  0
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  8  (877,784)  (914,166)

Net cash provided by operating activities  (612,502) (901,559)

Cash flows from financing activities
Grants received  10  764,908  512,074

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   669,458 1,417,665

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year   4,929,680  3,512,015

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year   5,599,138  4,929,680

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash on hand  4  9,800  10,300
Cash in banks  4  3,786,045  3,817,180
Fixed deposits  4  1,803,293  1,102,200

  5,599,138  4,929,680

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011 

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1 GENERAL INFORMATION
 
 Metta Welfare Association (“the Association”) operates in the Republic of Singapore. The registered office and 

principal place of operation of the Association is located at Block 32, Simei Street 1, Metta Building, Singapore 
529950.

 
 The Association is dedicated to the active promotion of humanitarian causes. The Association’s objectives are to 

provide special education, welfare services, community and medical care to the intellectually disabled, elderly and 
terminally ill in the community, regardless of race and religion. 

 
 The Association is registered as a charity organisation under Charities Act, Chapter 37 on 9 March 1995 and has been 

accorded an Institute of Public Character (‘IPC’) status for the period from 2 May 2010 to 1 May 2013.
 
 The Association is composed of ten (10) welfare centres as follows:
 1) Metta Home for the Disabled
 2) Metta Home Day Activity Centre
 3) Metta Day Activity Centre for the Intellectually Disabled
 4) Metta Day Rehabilitation Centre for the Elderly
 5) Metta Hospice Care Centre
 6) Metta Preschool@Simei
 7) Metta Preschool@Punggol
 8) South East CDC-Metta Student Care Centre
 9) NorthEast CDC-Metta Student Care Centre
 10) Metta Headquarters
  
 These financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar, which is the Association’s functional currency.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standard (“FRS”) 
and the disclosure requirements of the Recommended Accounting Practice 6. The financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

 
 The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its judgement 

in the process of applying the Association’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
 
2.1 Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2010
 
 The Association has adopted the new or revised FRS and Interpretations to FRS (INT FRS) that are mandatory for 

application from that date. Changes to the Association’s accounting policies have been made as required, in 
accordance with the relevant transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.

 
 The following are the FRS and INT FRS that are relevant to the Association:

  FRS  Effective Date  Title
  FRS 1  1.1.2009  Presentation of financial statements
  FRS 2  1.1.2009  Inventories
  FRS 7  1.1.2009  Cash flow statements
  FRS 8  1.1.2009  Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors
  FRS 10  1.1.2007  Events after the balance sheet date
  FRS 16  1.1.2009  Property, plant and equipment
  FRS 17  1.1.2007  Leases
  FRS 18  1.1.2005  Revenue
  FRS 19  1.1.2009  Employee benefits
  FRS 24  1.1.2006  Related party disclosures
  FRS 32  1.2.2007  Financial instruments : Presentation
  FRS 32  1.2.2009  Financial instruments : Presentation (Amendments)
  FRS 36  1.1.2009  Impairment of assets
  FRS 37  1.1.2006  Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
  FRS 39  1.1.2005 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement
  FRS 107 1.1.2009  Financial instruments: Disclosures

 The adoption of the above revised FRS did not result in any substantial changes to the Association’s accounting 
policies.

2.2 Revenue recognition

 Income comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the services rendered in the 
ordinary course of the Association’s activities. Revenue is recognised as follows:

2.2.1  Donations are recognised in the statement of financial activities upon receipt. Donations-in-kind are 
recognised when the fair value of the assets received can be reasonably ascertained.

2.2.2  Government grants are recognized at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grants 
will be received and all related conditions will be complied with. 

 Government grants relating to assets are recognised as deferred capital grant and is amortised over the 
estimated useful life of the relevant asset.

2.2.3  Revenue from services is recognised over the period in which the services are rendered, by reference 
to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a 
proportion of the total services to be performed.

2.2.4  Management fees are allocated costs comprised of: general management; human resource and 
administration; finance costs; and IT costs which are allocated among the welfare centres on a basis 
determined by the Executive Management Committee.

2.2.5  Interest income on bank current accounts and fixed deposits placed with banks are recognized on a 
time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

2.2.6  Other income are recognized when incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
 
2.3 Cost recognition

 Resources expended

 All expenditures are accounted for on accrual basis, aggregated under the respective areas. Direct costs 
are attributed to the activity where possible. Where costs are not wholly attributable to an activity, they are 
apportioned on a basis consistent with the use of resources.

2.3.1  Cost of generating funds from fund-raising activities 

 Costs that are directly attributable to the fund-raising activities are separated from those costs incurred in 
undertaking charitable activities.

2.3.2  Cost of charitable activities

 Cost of charitable activities comprises all costs incurred in the pursuit of the charitable objects of the 
Association. The total costs of charitable expenditure are apportionment of overhead and shared costs.

2.3.3  Governance and administrative costs

 Governance costs include the costs of governance arrangement, which relate to the general running 
of the Association, providing governance infrastructure and ensuring public accountability. These costs 
include costs related to constitutional and statutory requirements and an apportionment of overhead 
and shared costs.

2.4  Property, plant and equipment

2.4.1 Measurement

 All property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and any costs that are 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

2.4.2  Depreciation

 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment except renovation in progress is calculated using the 
straight-line method to allocate their depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives. The estimated 
useful lives are as follows:

 Useful lives
Alarm and security system  5 years
Arts and music equipment  5 years
Building  50 years
Computer  3 years
Furniture and equipment  5 years
Physio/medical equipment  5 years
Motor vehicles  5 years
Renovation  15 years

 The residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as 
appropriate, at each statement of financial position date. The effects of any revision of the residual 
values and useful lives are included in the statement of financial activities for the financial year in which 
the changes arise.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.4  Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

2.4.3  Subsequent expenditure

 Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised 
is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Association and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as repair and maintenance expenses in the statement of 
financial activities during the financial year in which it is incurred.

2.4.4  Disposal

 On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and its carrying amount is taken to the statement of financial activities.

2.5  Impairment of non-financial assets

 Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever there is any indication that these assets 
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to 
sell and value in use) of the assets is estimated to determine the amount of impairment loss.

 
 For the purpose of impairment testing of the assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual asset basis 

unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the 
case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs. 

 If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the 
statement of financial activities.

 An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
assets’ recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of an asset is 
increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in the statement of financial activities.

2.6  Financial assets

2.6.1  Classification

 The Association classifies its financial assets in the following category: loans and receivables and held-
to-maturity investments. The classification depends on the purpose for which the assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this 
designation at every reporting date.

 Loans and receivables

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except those maturing later than 12 
months after the statement of financial position date which are classified as non-current assets. Loans 
and receivables are classified within “Trade and other receivables” and “Cash and cash equivalents” on 
the statement of financial position.

 Held-to-maturity investments

 Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturities that the Executive Management Committee has the positive intention and ability 
to hold to maturity. If the Association were to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity 
investments, the whole category would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. They are 
presented as non-current assets, except for those maturing within 12 months after the balance sheet date 
which are presented as current assets.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 

2.6  Financial assets (Cont’d)

2.6.2  Recognition and derecognition

 Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Association has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

2.6.3 Measurement

 Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. Loans and receivables and 
held-to-maturity investments are subsequently carried at amortized cost using effective interest method.

2.6.4  Impairment
 
 The Association assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence 

that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

 Loans and receivables and Held-to-maturity investments

 An allowance for impairment of loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments including 
other receivables, is recognized when there is objective evidence that the Association will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables and investments. 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganization, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the receivable 
is impaired. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The 
amount of the allowance for impairment is recognized in the statement of financial activities.

2.7  Inventories

 Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes all costs of purchase and other 
cost incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is determined using the 
first-in, first-out basis. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less selling 
expenses.

2.8  Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, and deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of change in value.

2.9  Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities are recognised when the Association becomes a party to the contractual agreements of 
the instrument and are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. All 
interest related charges are recognised in the statement of financial activities. Financial liabilities include accruals 
and other payables. Financial liabilities is derecognised when the obligations under the liability is discharged 
or cancelled or expires. When existing financial liabilities are replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of financial activities.

2.10  Trade and other payables

 Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method.



Financial Report 
ᑶۨসݤ

100

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 

2.11 Provisions for other liabilities and charges

 Provisions for other liabilities and charges are recognised when the Association has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.

2.12 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

 The carrying amounts of current financial assets and liabilities, carried at amortised cost, are assumed to 
approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

2.13 Funds

 Fund balances restricted by outside sources are so indicated and are distinguished from unrestricted funds 
allocated to specific purposes, if any, by action of the Executive Management Committee. Externally restricted 
funds may only be utilized in accordance with the purposes for which they are established. The Executive 
Management Committee retains full control over the use of unrestricted funds for any of the Association’s 
purposes.

2.14 Leases

 Operating leases

 Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 
lessor) are taken to the statement of financial activities on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When 
an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the 
lessor by way of penalty is recognized as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

 Rental on operating lease is charged to statement of financial activities. Contingent rents are recognized as an 
expense in the statement of financial activities in the financial year in which they are incurred.

2.15  Employee compensation

 Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Association pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), on a mandatory, contractual or 
voluntary basis. The Association has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The 
Association’s contribution to defined contribution plans are recognised as employee compensation expense 
when they are due.

 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they accrue to employees. A provision is made 
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the statement of 
financial position date.

2.16  Related parties

 Related parties are entities with one or more common management committee members. Parties are considered 
to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise influence over the party in making 
financial and operating decisions.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGMENTS 

 Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

 Critical judgments in applying the entity’s accounting policies

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the statement of 
financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

 
 Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

 The Association reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on factors 
such as operating plans and strategies, expected level of usage and future technological developments. It is 
possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought 
about by changes in the factors mentioned.

 Impairment of property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever there is any indication that the assets are 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (i.e. higher of the fair value less cost to sell and 
value in use) of the assets is estimated to determine the impairment loss. The key assumptions for the value in use 
calculation are those regarding the growth rates, and expected change to selling price and direct costs during 
the year and a suitable discount rate.

 Allowance for impairment of receivables

 The Association reviews the adequacy of allowance for impairment of receivables at each closing by reference 
to the ageing analysis of receivables, and evaluates the risks of collection according to the credit standing and 
collection history of individual client. If there are indications that the financial position of a client has deteriorated 
resulting in an adverse assessment of his risk profile, an appropriate amount of allowance will be provided.

4 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

   2011 2010
   $ $
  Cash on hand  9,800 10,300
  Cash in banks  3,786,045  3,817,180
  Fixed deposits  1,803,293  1,102,200
   5,599,138  4,929,680
  
 Fixed deposits mature within 1 month and bear interest of 0.10% (2010: 0.10% to 0.20%) per annum.

 Cash equivalents amounting to $185,100 (2010: $266,700) is pledged against the Banker’s Guarantee in 
compliance to the tenancy agreement with Singapore Land Authority.

 At the statement of financial position date, the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximated 
their fair values.
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5 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

   2011 2010
   Note $ $
  Trade receivables:
  - Outside parties  95,519  100,367
  - Fees in arrears  600  19,102

  Other receivables:
  - Amount due from related parties 16  11 4,975  1,933
  - Deposits paid  140,246  204,971
  - Grant receivable  181,712  215,978
  - Other debtors  79,315  0
  - Prepayments  27,905  29,992
   640,272  572,343
 
  Allowance for bad debts – Trade 
  receivables  (59,800)  (69,050)
  
   580,472  503,293

 At the statement of financial position date, the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximated 
their fair values.

6 LONG-TERM FIXED DEPOSITS

 Long-term fixed deposits are placed on 29 May 2006 and will mature on 23 May 2011 with interest of 4% per 
annum.

7 HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 

   2011 2010
    $ $
 
  Notes  200,000 200,000
  Government bonds  0  250,000

  Carrying amount – At cost
  Current  200,000  250,000
  Non-current  0  200,000
   200,000  450,000

  Market values
  Notes  197,680  192,480
  Government bonds  0  252,977
   197,680  445,457

 The note is placed on 25 August 2003 and will mature on 25 August 2011 with interest of 3.75% per annum.

 The government bonds have interest of 4.81% per annum.
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8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

  Alarm and Arts and   Furniture Physio/
  security music   and medical Motos  Renovation
  system equipment Building Computer equipment equipment vehicles Renovation in progress Total
 Note $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

2011

Cost          
Beginning of financial year   15,987  0  15,427,304  256,819  1,093,204  90,871  547,113  565,441  839,261  18,836,000
Additions   10,376  5,392  0  172,733  88,385  2,380  47,427  0  551,091  877,784
Disposal   0  0  0  (9,419)  (800)  (2,070)  0  0  0  (12,289)
Transfers   0  0  0  0  0  0  0  562,913  (562,913)  0
End of financial year   26,363  5,392  15,427,304  420,133  1,180,789  91,181  594,540  1,128,354  827,439  19,701,495

Accumulated depreciation          
Beginning of financial year   4,756  0  2,395,626  199,298  931,346  56,242  458,690  374,494  0  4,420,452
Depreciation charge  13  4,407  90  306,466  35,921  86,145  11,694  41,303  32,379  0  518,405
Disposal   0  0  0  (9,419)  (800) (1,553) 0 0 0 (11,772)
End of financial year   9,163  90  2,702,092  225,800  1,016,691  66,383  499,993  406,873  0  4,927,085

Net book value at end of financial year  17,200  5,302  12,725,212  194,333  164,098  24,798  94,547  721,481  827,439  14,774,410

2010

Cost          
Beginning of financial year   15,987  0  15,427,304  229,685  1,081,663  78,954  547,113  565,441  0  17,946,147
Additions   0  0  0  46,657  16,331  11,917  0  0  839,261  914,166
Disposal   0  0  0  (19,523)  (4,790)  0  0  0  0  (24,313)
End of financial year   15,987  0  15,427,304  256,819  1,093,204  90,871  547,113  565,441  839,261  18,836,000

Accumulated depreciation          
Beginning of financial year   1,559  0  2,089,161  209,408  831,040  46,317  414,200  348,814  0  3,940,499
Depreciation charge  13  3,197  0  306,465  9,413  105,096  9,925  44,490  25,680  0  504,266
Disposal   0  0  0  (19,523)  (4,790)  0  0  0  0  (24,313)
End of financial year   4,756  0  2,395,626  199,298  931,346  56,242  458,690  374,494  0  4,420,452

Net book value at end of financial year  11,231  0  13,031,678  57,521  161,858  34,629  88,423  190,947  839,261  14,415,548
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9 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

   2011 2010
   Note $ $
  Trade payables:
  - Outside parties  161,379  346,885

  Other payables:
  - Amount due to related parties  16  837  51,772
  - Accruals  602,460  601,528
  - Deferred income  76,795  86,560
  - Deposits received  118,042  95,835
  - Other creditor  5,910  0
  - Pre-event costs  2,867  0
   968,290  1,182,580

 At the statement of financial position date, the carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximated their 
fair values.

 
10 DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS

   2011 2010
   Note $ $
  Cost
  Beginning of financial year  16,732,139  16,220,065
  Received during the year  764,908  512,074
  Capitalisation of major renovation  136,360  0
  End of financial year  17,633,407  16,732,139

  Accumulated amortisation
  Beginning of financial year  3,003,711  2,607,048
  Amortisation for the year  12  400,016  396,663
  End of financial year  3,403,727  3,003,711
 
  Net carrying amount at end of financial year
  Current  463,198  395,075
  Non-current  13,766,482  13,333,353
   14,229,680  13,728,428
 
  Comprised of:
  - Government grants  4,838,418  4,309,753
  - Non-government grants  9,391,262  9,418,675
   14,229,680  13,728,428

 These amounts represent government grants and donations received from individuals and private organisations 
for the purchase and/or construction of property, plant and equipment. These grants and donations are amortized 
and recognized as income in proportion to the depreciation of the related property, plant and equipment.

11 FUNDS

(A)  Investment fund

 In a meeting held on 28 September 1997, the Executive Management Committee resolved that 20% of the 
annual surplus shall be transferred to this fund.

(B)  Project account reserve

 This reserve is for setting up new centres and closing existing ones.
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11 FUNDS (Cont’d) 
 
(C)  Sinking fund

 This fund is for maintenance of the building property of Metta Home for the Disabled.
 
(D)  Designated fund

 This fund is composed of the following:

(a)  Alumni welfare fund

 This fund is to support Happy Arts Enterprise Ltd.’s training programs and other alumni related expenses.

(b)  Client welfare fund

 This fund is used to pay various expenses for the benefit of the clients at Metta Day Activity Centre for 
the Intellectually Disabled and Metta Home Day Activity Centre.

(c)  Equipment fund

 This fund is used to purchase electrical appliances and exercise equipment for the clients of Metta Day 
Rehabilitation Centre for the Elderly.

(d)  HIV fund

 This fund is established in partnership with Action for Aids to assist patients of Metta Hospice Care 
Centre afflicted with Aids by raising funds to purchase antiretroviral drugs for these patients.

(e)  Medicine fund

 This fund helps subsidise cost of medication and other pharmaceutical expenses of the clients of Metta 
Hospice Care Centre.

(f)  Metta School reserve

 This reserve pertains to the money returned by Metta School to be held in trust by the Association.

(g)  Reserve for client ang pow

 This reserve is maintained at Metta Home for the Disabled which pays for various living expenses 
incurred to benefit its clients.

(h) Student welfare fund

 This fund is used to pay for recess meals as well as educational and recreational outings of Metta 
School students.

(E)  Building fund
 
 This fund is for the opening of a second preschool centre at Punggol.

(F)  Education trust fund

 This fund is for the benefit of special needs children between 9 and 18 years old of Metta School.
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12 INCOMING RESOURCES 

 Unrestricted Fund
 Designated  Fund Restricted Fund
    Project  Alumni Client    Metta Reserve Student  Education
  General Investment Account Sinking Welfare Welfare Equipment HIV Medical School for Client Welfare Building Trust
  Fund Fund Reserve Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund Total
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

 2011

Activities for generating funds
Fund-raising income  1,023,649  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  1,023,649
Event and activity income  174,450  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0 0  0  0  174,450
 1,198,099  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  1,198,099

Voluntary income
Tax exempt donations  899,113  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  899,113
General donations  322,646  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  322,646
Designated donations  245,381  0  0  0  34,000  1,574  12,122  0  418  (211)  4,656  50,035  0  0  347,975
Government grants  3,333,314  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  436,301  0  3,769,615
NCSS grants  697,801  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  697,801
Tote Board grants  25,031  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  25,031
Amortisation of deferred capital grant  400,016  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  400,016
 5,923,302  0  0  0  34,000  1,574  12,122  0  418  (211)  4,656  50,035  436,301  0  6,462,197

Incoming resources from charitable services
Buddhist activity income  897,900  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  897,900
Fees received  989,820  0  0  0  0  0  0  0 0  0  0  0  0  0  989,820
Membership fee  480  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  480
Transport service fee  66,082  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0 66,082
 1,954,282  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  1,954,282

Other incoming resources
Interest income  15,282  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  15,282
Management fee  20,550  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  20,550
Other income  74,272  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  74,272
 110,104  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  110,104
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12 INCOMING RESOURCES (Cont’d)

 Unrestricted Fund
 Designated  Fund Restricted Fund
    Project  Alumni Client    Metta Reserve Student  Education
  General Investment Account Sinking Welfare Welfare Equipment HIV Medical School for Client Welfare Building Trust
  Fund Fund Reserve Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund Total
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

 2010

Activities for generating funds
Fund-raising income  947,695  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  947,695
Event and activity income  809,442  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  809,442
 1,757,137  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  1,757,137

Voluntary income
Tax exempt donations  611,137  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  611,137
General donations  270,049  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  270,049
Designated donations  51,204  0  0  0  0  5,012  13,500  18,000  347  124  4,595  136,941  372,500  0  602,223
Government grants  3,459,854  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  165,433  0  3,625,287
NCSS grants  761,134  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  761,134
Amortisation of deferred capital grant  396,663  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  396,663
 5,550,041  0  0  0  0  5,012  13,500  18,000  347  124  4,595  136,941  537,933  0  6,266,493

Incoming resources from charitable services
Fees received  977,833  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  977,833
Membership fee  444  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  444
 978,277  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  978,277

Other incoming resources
Interest income  12,607  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  12,607
Other income  163,046  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  163,046
 175,653  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  175,653

Donations-in-kind, mostly consumables, are received during the year. However, the fair value of the assets received cannot be reasonably ascertained. Hence, the assets are not recognized in the books.
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13 RESOURCES EXPENDED 

 Unrestricted Fund
 Designated  Fund Restricted Fund
    Project  Alumni Client    Metta Reserve Student  Education
  General Investment Account Sinking Welfare Welfare Equipment HIV Medical School for Client Welfare Building Trust
  Fund Fund Reserve Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund Total
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

 2011

Cost of generating funds
Fund-raising expenditure  206,473  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  206,473
Event and activity expense  123,765  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  123,765
Donation expense  15,689  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  15,689
Designated expenses  97,889  0  0  0  40,765  623  0  0  150  0  8,307  70,432  485,472  0  703,638
 443,816  0  0  0  40,765  623  0  0  150  0  8,307  70,432  485,472  0  1,049,565

Cost of charitable activities
Buddhist activity expense  286,246  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  286,246
Depreciation  518,405  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  518,405
Direct activity expenses
- Meals and refreshments  59,290  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  59,290
- Medical and physical aids  9,062  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  9,062
- Medical professional fee  236,293  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  236,293
- Other expense  2,573  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  2,573
- Outings and activities  1,895  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  1,895
- Training and teaching materials  8,598  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  8,598
- Transportation  146,128  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  146,128
- Uniform  10,695  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  10,695
Public education  12,373  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  12,373
Rental
- Building  1,142,218  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  1,142,218
- Equipment  33,999  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  33,999
Staff costs
- CPF/SDL and levy  522,081 0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  522,081
- Medical  42,242  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  42,242
- Salaries and bonus  3,870,886  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   3,870,886
- Temporary service  4,601  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   4,601
- Transportation  3,347  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   3,347
- Welfare and Training  143,464  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   143,464
Upkeep, repairs and maintenance
- Equipment  24,974  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   24,974
- General  180,254  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   180,254
- Motor vehicles  80,021  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   80,021
Utilities  324,179  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   324,179
Others
- General expenses  34,015  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   34,015
- License and subscription  5,261  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   5,261
- Meeting expenses  6,109  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   6,109
- Overseas travel  3,564   0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   3,564
- Printing, stationery and postage  43,885  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   43,885
- Telecommunication  63,246  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   63,246
- Utensils  1,642  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   1,642
 7,821,546  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   7,821,546
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13 RESOURCES EXPENDED (Cont’d)

 Unrestricted Fund
 Designated  Fund Restricted Fund
    Project  Alumni Client    Metta Reserve Student  Education
  General Investment Account Sinking Welfare Welfare Equipment HIV Medical School for Client Welfare Building Trust
  Fund Fund Reserve Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund Total
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

 2011 (Cont’d)

Governance and other administrative costs
Audit fees  22,479  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   22,479
Bank charges  14,693  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   14,693
Cost of goods sold  17,448  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   17,448
Loss on disposal of property, plant 
      and equipment  517  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   517
Newspapers and periodicals  2,234  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   2,234
Other professional fees  33,772  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   33,772
Property, plant and equipment expensed  28,90  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   28,900
Property, plant and equipment insurance  6,101  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   6,101
Receivables written off  4,620  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   4,620
Recruitment  7,406  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   7,406
 138,170  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   138,170
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13 RESOURCES EXPENDED (Cont’d)

 Unrestricted Fund
 Designated  Fund Restricted Fund
    Project  Alumni Client    Metta Reserve Student  Education
  General Investment Account Sinking Welfare Welfare Equipment HIV Medical School for Client Welfare Building Trust
  Fund Fund Reserve Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Reserve Ang Pow Fund Fund Fund Total
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

 2010

Cost of generating funds
Fund-raising expenditure  204,000  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  204,000
Event and activity expense  296,267  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  296,267
Designated expenses  35,272  0  0  0  0  1,424  4,646  5,000  895  0  4,180  156,403  183,814  0  391,634
 535,539  0  0  0  0  1,424  4,646  5,000  895  0  4,180  156,403  183,814  0  891,901

Cost of charitable activities
Depreciation  504,266  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  504,266
Direct activity expenses
- Meals and refreshments  97,173  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  97,173
- Medical and physical aids  33,427  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0   33,427
- Medical professional fee  221,509  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  221,509
- Outings and activities  4,163  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  4,163
- Training and teaching materials  11,742  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  11,742
- Transportation  79,337  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  79,337
Public education  13,252  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  13,252
Rental
- Building  951,809  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  951,809
- Equipment  31,151  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  31,151
Staff costs
- CPF/SDL and levy  472,061  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  72,061
- Medical  41,493  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  41,493
- Salaries and bonus  3,586,299  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  3,586,299
- Transportation  4,434  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  4,434
- Welfare and Training  82,366  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  82,366
Upkeep, repairs and maintenance
- Equipment  33,919  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  33,919
- General  121,954  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  121,954
- Motor vehicles  76,683  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  76,683
Utilities  300,000  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  300,000
Others
- General expenses  40,130  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  40,130
- License and subscription  4,482  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  4,482
- Printing, stationery and postage  41,790  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  41,790
- Telecommunication  55,499  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  55,499
- Utensils  1,983  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  1,983
 6,810,922  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  6,810,922

Governance and other administrative costs
Audit fees  19,576  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  19,576
Bank charges  2,219  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  2,219
Cost of goods sold  19,236  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  19,236
Newspapers and periodicals  1,220  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  1,220
Property, plant and equipment expensed  24,947  0  0  1,207  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  26,154
Property, plant and equipment insurance  6,919 0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  6,919
Recruitment  4,733 0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  4,733
 78,850  0  0  1,207  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  80,057
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14 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

 As at the statement of financial position date, the Association has commitments for future minimum lease 
payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

   2011 2010
    $ $
  Building
  - Not later than one year  1,118,844  1,126,924
  - More than a year but not more than five years  2,224,079  0
 
  Equipment
  - Not later than one year  32,285  31,261
  - More than a year but not more than five years  60,200  66,048
  - More than five years  441  0

 The above operating lease commitments are based on known rental rates as at the date of this report and do not 
include any revision in rates which may be determined by the lessor.

 
15 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

 The Association is registered as a charity organisation under Charities Act, Chapter 37. As an approved charity, it is 
exempt from income tax under Section 13(1) of the Income Tax Act.

16 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 The Association had transactions with related parties on terms agreed between the parties as follows:
 
   2011 2010
   Note $ $
  Amount due from related parties – 
  represents net advances from the 
  Association
  - Happy Arts Enterprise Ltd.  114,338  1,933
  - Metta School  637  0
   5  114,975  1,933
 
  Amount due to related parties – 
  represents net expenses paid on 
  behalf of the Association
  - Buddha Tooth Relic Temple   837  4,519
  - Metta School   0  47,253
   9  837  51,772
 
 Management fee charged to 
 Metta School  12  20,550  0

 Amount due to/from related parties are: unsecured; interest-free; receivable/payable on demand; and will be 
settled with cash.

 During the financial year, one of the executive management committee members received an honorarium 
amounting to $2,100. Other members did not receive any remuneration during the financial year.
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17 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

 Key management personnel compensation for the financial year is as follows:
 
   2011 2010
  Number of key management in 
  remuneration bands
  - Above S$100,000  1  1
  - Within S$50,001 to S$100,000  6  5
  - S$50,000 and below  0  1 

18 RESERVE POLICY AND POSITION

 The Association’s reserve position (excluding non-current assets) for financial year ended 31 March 2011 is as follows:

      Increase/
    2011 2010 (decrease)
    $’000 $’000 %
  A  Unrestricted Funds
   Accumulated general funds   2,570  2,040  26
   Project account reserve   1,188  1,188  0
   Sinking fund   268  336  (20)
   Total   4,026  3,564  13
  
  B Restricted or Designated Funds
   Designated Funds   325  302  8
   Restricted Funds   656  705  (7)
  
  C  Endowment Funds   1,149  1,006  14
  
  D  Total Funds   6,156  5,577  10
  
  E  Total Annual Operating Expenditure   9,009  7,783  16
  
  F  Ratio of Funds to Annual Operating Expenditure (A/E)  0.29  0.26  11

 Reference

C.  An endowment fund consists of assets, funds or properties which are held in perpetuity which produce 
annual income flow for a foundation to spend as grants.

D.  Total Funds include unrestricted, restricted / designated and endowment funds.

E.  Total Annual Operating Expenditure includes expenses related to Cost of Charitable Activities and
 Governance and Other Operating and Administration expenses.

 The Association’s Reserve Policy is as follows:
 
 The Association regards its unrestricted general fund as its reserves.
 
 The Association maintains sufficient reserve to ensure long term financial sustainability and continuity for the 

purpose of operating effective programmes.

 The maximum operating reserves shall be five (5) years of annual operating expenditure, with annual operating 
expenditure being five (5) times the annual expenditure over the last three (3) years.
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19 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 The Association does not have a formal risk management policies and guidelines. The Association does not hold or 
issue derivative financial instruments.

(i)  Interest rate risk
 
 The Association is not exposed to interest rate risk as it has no bank borrowings.

(ii)  Liquidity risk
 
 The Association manages its liquidity risk by monitoring and maintaining a level of cash and cash equivalents 

deemed adequate by the management to finance its on-going working capital requirements.

(iii)  Credit risk

 The Association has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

 The Association places its cash with creditworthy financial institutions.

 The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents represent the 
Association’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

 Fair values

 The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements of the Association 
approximate their fair values.

20 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

 The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 were audited by a firm of auditors other than 
Messrs Fiducia LLP. The audit opinion issued for the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 
was unqualified.

21 AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Executive 
Management Committee on 26 August 2011.
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Statement by The Management Committee

In the opinion of the Management Committee, the accompanying financial 
statements set out on pages 118 to 138 are drawn up so as to give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the School as at 31 March 2011 and of its 
results of financial activities, the changes in funds and cash flows of the School 
for the year then ended.

At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the 
School will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Management Committee, comprising the following, authorised the issue of 
these financial statements on 4 August 2011.

Chairman  Ven Shi Fa Zhao
School supervisor  Ven Shi Pu En
Secretary  Yong Soo Cheng
Treasurer  Tan Ming Yong
Member  Ee Tiang Hwee
Member  Lau Swee Eng
Member  Lim Yew Si
Member  Tan Yen Kee
Member  Poh Yong Meng, Stephen
Ministry of Education representative  Jean Sia

For and on behalf of the Management Committee,

Yong Soo Cheng Tan Ming Yong
Secretary / Principal Honorary Treasurer

Singapore,
4 August 2011
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Metta School

We have audited the financial statements of Metta School (the “School”) set out on pages 118 to 138, which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011, the statement of financial activities, statement of changes in 
funds, statement of cash flows, statement of monthly pupil eligible for funding and statement of monthly enrolment 
for international students for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes:
(a)  devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that 

assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised 
and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and 
balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets;

(b)  selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
(c)  making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion,
(a) the financial statements of the School are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore 

Financial Reporting Standards so as to present fairly the state of affairs of Metta School as at 31 March 2011, and the 
results of the financial activities, the changes in funds and cash flows of the School for the financial year ended on 
that date; and

(b) the accounting and other records required by the regulations enacted by Ministry of Education and the National 
Council of Social Services, as well as of any agreement signed with the Ministry of Education, to be kept by the 
School have been properly kept in accordance with those regulations.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Metta School (Cont’d)

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that caused us to believe that during the year:

(i)  the receipts, expenditure and investment of monies; and
(ii)  the acquisition and disposal of assets by the School;

have not been carried out in accordance to the Rules and Regulations issued by the Ministry of Education and the 
National Council of Social Services, as well as of any agreement signed with the Ministry of education; nor that

(iii)  the donations and other receipts of the School were not used for approved projects and the purposes intended.

Fiducia LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore,
4 August 2011
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2011 

    2011 2010
   Note $ $

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents  4  9,929,992  8,540,277
Trade and other receivables  5  49,704  116,268
Inventories  6 139  157
    9,979,835  8,656,702

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment  7  7,537,715  7,543,258

Total Assets   17,517,550  16,199,960
       
LIABILITIES      

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  8  291,719  167,698
Deferred capital grants  9  57,159  57,059
    348,878  224,757

Non-current liabilities
Deferred capital grants  9  0  57,173

Total liabilities   348,878  281,930

NET ASSETS   17,168,672  15,918,030

FUNDS      

Unrestricted funds
Accumulated general fund  10  5,846,220  5,621,013

Restricted funds
Project fund  11  1,236,469  894,719
Sinking fund  12  1,637,092  1,286,089
Student assistance fund  13  901,180  604,651
Curriculum enhancement fund  14  20,809  1,159
Opportunity fund  15  16,003  10,971
Project reserves  16  0  8,840
School building fund  17  7,337,400  7,317,591
School building fund – extension  18  988  0
Staff training vote fund  19  172,511  172,997
    11,322,452  10,297,017

Total funds   17,168,672  15,918,030
       

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Activities
For the financial year ended 31 march 2011

    2011 2010
   Note $ $

INCOMING RESOURCES

Unsolicited donations   200  100
Designated donations  20  10,902  14,223
Government grant   4,740,079  4,872,298
NCSS grant   1,131,918  1,203,160
NCSS - Supplementary fund   0  15,020
Singapore Totalisator Board grant  22  279,178  256,224
Government grant - Jobs credit   0  229,379
MOE – Proto-typing vocational preparations   149,040  0
Interest received   201  259
Fixed deposit interest   39,029  34,717
Fees received - Local students   88,620  98,360
Fees received - Foreign students   0  23,616
Amortisation of deferred capital grant   219,339  258,178
Total incoming resources  6,658,506  7,005,534

LESS: RESOURCES EXPENDED      

Communications   4,927  4,947
Designated expenditures   10,052  14,218
Depreciation  7  320,143  338,275
Fixed asset written off   17  18,403
Purchase of equipment and furniture   17,185  0
Insurance   2,648  3,050
Licence fees   100  100
Maintenance   92,204  134,937
Proto-typing of vocational preparation   4,438  0
Pupil welfare   99,833  46,628
Professional fees and other services   45,006  32,771
Pre-vocational program   89,209  63,914
Recruitment   3,547  785
Rental of equipment   2,871  3,883
Supplies and materials   157,043  142,840
School functions   84,676  57,115
Security guards   16,365  12,341
Salaries and allowances   4,074,673  3,296,856
Staff welfare   105,117  49,684
Transport claims   7,192  2,975
Utilities   117,247  94,110
Total resources expended   5,254,493  4,317,832

Surplus for the year   1,404,013  2,687,702
       

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011 

    2011 2010
   Note $ $

Cash flows from operating activities    
Surplus for the year   1,404,013  2,687,702

Adjustments for:
- Amortisation of deferred capital grant   (219,339)  (258,178)
- Depreciation  7  320,143  338,275
- Fixed asset written off   17  18,403
- Adjustment to prior year grant funding  10  (125,797)  (28,408)
- Transfer of surplus to reserved funds  10  (1,053,009)  (1,343,850)
- Interest income   (39,230)  (34,976)
Operating cash flows before working capital changes   286,798  1,378,968

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
- Inventories   18  61
- Trade and other receivables   66,564  (3,492)
- Trade and other payables   124,021  41,416
Net cash provided by operating activities  477,401  1,416,953

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  7  (314,617)  (217,002)
Interest received   39,230  34,976
Net cash used in investing activities   (275,387)  (182,026)

Cash flows from financing activities
Increase in deferred capital grants   162,266  143,523
Increase in project fund   341,750  537,540
Increase in sinking fund   351,003  537,540
Increase in student assistance fund   296,529  223,731
Increase in curriculum enhanced fund   19,650  1,159
Increase in opportunity fund   5,032  5,518
Decrease in project reserves   (8,840)  (20,004)
Increase in school building funds   19,809  0
Increase in school building funds - extension   988  0
Increase in staff training vote   (486)  35,782
Net cash used in financing activities   1,187,701  1,464,789

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   1,389,715  2,699,716
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year   8,540,277  5,840,561

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year  4  9,929,992  8,540,277

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash and bank balances   2,279,663  1,923,173
Fixed deposits   7,650,329  6,617,104
 4  9,929,992  8,540,277

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Monthly Pupil Eligible for Funding
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011 

    Number of pupils Total
   Number of pupils by under vocational number
   disability group * tracks of pupils

   (a)  (b)  (c=a+b)

Period  MID(J)+MID(S)+ASD  MID(J)  MID(S)  ASD  VOC  VOC-ASD

1 April 2010  350  246  18  86  52  8  410

1 May 2010  347  243  18  86  52 8  407

1 June 2010  346  242  18  86  52  8  406

1 July 2010  346  242  18  86  52  8  406

1 August 2010  346  242  18  86  50  8  404

1 September 2010  345  242  18  85  49  8  402

1 October 2010  346  243  18  85  49  8  403

1 November 2010  346  243  18  85  49  8  403

1 December 2010  346  243  18  85  49  8  403

1 January 2011  326  224  13  89  70  15  411

1 February 2011  326  224  13  89  70  15  411

1 March 2011  325  223  13  89  70  15  410

* Separate columns to be provided for each disability which are:

MID(J) – Mild intellectual disability – Junior pupils

MID(s) – Mild intellectual disability – Senior pupils

ASD – Autism Spectrum Disorder
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Statement of Monthly Pupil Enrolment for International Students
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011 

   Number of  Number of Total number of
   international pupils * international pupils ** pupils

 Period (a)  (b)  (c=a+b)

1 April 2010  0 0  0   

1 May 2010  0 0  0

1 June 2010  0 0  0 
  
1 July 2010  0 0  0  

1 August 2010  0 0  0  

1 September 2010  0 0  0 

1 October 2010  0 0  0  

1 November 2010  0 0  0  

1 December 2010  0 0  0  

1 January 2011  0 0  0  

1 February 2011  0 0  0  

1 March 2011 0 0  0  

* International pupils who are children of employment pass holders, skilled workers and diplomatic staff.

** International pupils who are not children of employment pass holders, skilled workers and diplomatic staff.

Note: International pupils are defined as those who are not of Singapore citizen or Permanent Resident Status.
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2011 

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1 GENERAL INFORMATION
 
 Metta School (the “School”) is one of the ten (10) welfare centres provided by Metta Welfare Association which is a 

registered exempt charity in Singapore.

 It is registered with the Ministry of Education (MOE) under the Education Act (Chapter 87) on 16 November 2001.

 The registered office and principal place of business of the School is located at 30 Simei Street 1 Singapore 529949.

 The objective of the School is to provide special education to mildly intellectually disabled and/or mildly autistic 
children between ages seven (7) to eighteen (18) who are functioning between IQ range of fifty (50) to seventy (70). 
Students who can benefit from vocational programmes can continue to school up to twenty one (21) years old.

 As at 31 March 2011, the School has 95 (2010: 85) employees.

 These financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar, which is the School’s functional currency.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standard (“FRS”). 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the 
accounting policies below.

 The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with FRS requires Management to exercise its judgement 
in the process of applying the School’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions that affects the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of income and expenses 
during the financial year. Although these estimates are based on Management Committee’s best knowledge of 
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.

 
 The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 

significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.



Financial Report 
ᑶۨসݤ

125

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
 
2.1 Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2010
 
 The School has adopted the new or revised FRS and Interpretations to FRS (INT FRS) that are mandatory for 

application from that date. Changes to the School’s accounting policies have been made as required, in 
accordance with the relevant transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS. The following are the FRS 
and INT FRS that are relevant to the School:

  FRS  Effective Date  Title
  FRS 1  1.1.2009  Presentation of financial statements
  FRS 2  1.1.2009  Inventories
  FRS 7  1.1.2009  Cash flow statements
  FRS 8  1.1.2009  Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors
  FRS 10  1.1.2007  Events after the balance sheet date
  FRS 16  1.1.2009  Property, plant and equipment
  FRS 17  1.1.2007  Leases
  FRS 18  1.1.2005  Revenue
  FRS 19  1.1.2009  Employee benefits
  FRS 24  1.1.2006  Related party disclosures
  FRS 32 1.2.2007 Financial instruments: Presentation
  FRS 32  1.2.2009  Financial instruments: Presentation (Amendments)
  FRS 36  1.1.2009 Impairment of assets
  FRS 37  1.1.2006  Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
  FRS 39  1.1.2005  Financial instruments: recognition and measurement
  FRS 107  1.1.2009  Financial instruments: Disclosures

 The adoption of the above revised FRS did not result in any substantial changes to the School’s accounting 
policies.

2.2 Revenue recognition

 Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the services rendered in the 
ordinary course of the School’s activities. Revenue is recognised as follows:

2.2.1  Fees are recognised over the period of instruction. Amounts of fees relating to future periods of instruction 
are included in fees received in advance.

2.2.2  Donations are recognized in the statement of financial activities upon receipt. Donations-inkind are 
recognised when the fair value of the assets received can be reasonably ascertained.

2.2.3  Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

2.3 Government grants

 Grants from the government are recognized as a receivable at their fair value when there is reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and the Company will comply with all the attached conditions. Government grants 
receivable are recognized as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs which 
they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants relating to expenses are shown 
separately as other income.

 
 Government grants relating to assets are recognised as deferred capital grant and is amortised over the 

estimated useful life of the relevant asset. 



Financial Report 
ᑶۨসݤ

126

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.4  Property, plant and equipment

2.4.1 Measurement

 All property, plant and equipment are initially recognized at cost and subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and any costs that are 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

2.4.2  Depreciation

 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
their depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives. The estimate useful lives are as follows:

 Useful lives
Furniture and fittings  5 years
Office equipment  5 years
Computers  3 years
Physio equipment  5 years
Arts and music  5 years
School building  50 years
Other equipment  3 years
Renovations  2 years

 The residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as 
appropriate, at each statement of financial position date. The effects of any revision of the residual 
values and useful lives are included in the statement of financial activities for the financial year in which 
the changes arise.

2.4.3  Subsequent expenditure

 Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised 
is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the School and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Other 
subsequent expenditure is recognised as repair and maintenance expenses in the statement of financial 
activities during the financial year in which it is incurred.

2.4.4  Disposal

 On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and its carrying amount is taken to the statement of financial activities.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
 
2.5  Impairment of non-financial assets

 Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever there is any indication that these assets 
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to 
sell and value in use) of the assets is estimated to determine the amount of impairment loss.

 For the purpose of impairment testing of the assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual asset basis 
unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the 
case, recoverable amount is determined for the cashgenerating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs.

 If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the 
statement of financial activities.

 An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if; there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
assets’ recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of an asset is 
increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in the statement of financial activities.

2.6  Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

 The carrying amounts of current financial assets and liabilities, carried at amortised cost, are assumed to 
approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

2.7 Operating leases

 Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 
lessor) are taken to the statement of financial activities on a straightline basis over the period of the lease. When 
an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the 
lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

 Rental on operating lease is charged to statement of financial activities. Contingent rents are recognised as an 
expense in the statement of financial activities in the financial year in which they are incurred.

2.8 Trade and other payables

 Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortized cost, using 
the effective interest method.

2.9 Provisions for other liabilities and charges

 Provisions for other liabilities and charges are recognised when the School has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.10 Financial assets

2.10.1  Classification

 The School classifies its financial assets in the following category: loans and receivables. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the assets were acquired. Management determines the classification 
of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every statement of financial 
position date.

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except those maturing later than 12 
months after the statement of financial position date which are classified as non-current assets. Loans 
and receivables are classified within “trade and other receivables” and “cash and cash equivalents” on 
the statement of financial position.

2.10.2  Recognition and derecognition

 Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the School has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

2.10.3 Measurement

 Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs.
 
 Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortized cost using effective interest method.

2.10.4  Impairment
 
 The School assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence that 

a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

 An allowance for impairment of loans and receivables is recognized when there is objective evidence 
that the School will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
or financial reorganization, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the 
receivable is impaired. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. The amount of the allowance for impairment is recognized in the statement of financial activities 
within “Administrative expenses”.

2.11  Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits with financial institutions.

2.12 Inventories

 Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out 
basis. The cost of inventories comprises the purchase costs.

 Net realisable value is the selling price which is equivalent to the purchase price.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.13  Employee compensation

 (a) Defined contribution plans

 Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the School pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), on mandatory, contractual 
or voluntary basis. The School has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. 
The School’s contribution to defined contribution plans are recognized as employee compensation expense 
when they are due.

 
 (b) Employee leave entitlement

 Employee entitlements to annual leave other than teaching staff are recognized when they accrue to 
employees. Unused annual leave are not allowed to be carried forward to the following calendar year.

2.14  Related parties

 Related parties are entities with one or more common management committee members. Parties are considered 
to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise influence over the party in making 
financial and operating decisions.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGMENTS 

 Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

3.1  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

 The School makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

3.2  Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the statement of 
financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

 Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

 The School reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on factors such as 
business plans and strategies, expected level of usage and future technological developments. It is possible that 
future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes 
in the factors mentioned.

 Impairment of property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever there is any indication that the assets are 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (i.e. higher of the fair value less cost to sell and 
value in use) of the assets is estimated to determine the impairment loss. The key assumptions for the value in use 
calculation are those regarding the growth rates, and expected change to selling price and direct costs during 
the year and a suitable discount rate.



Financial Report 
ᑶۨসݤ

130

4 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

   2011 2010
   $ $

  Cash on hand  1,000 1,000
  Cash at banks  2,278,663  1,922,173
  Fixed deposits  7,650,329  6,617,104
   9,929,992  8,540,277
  
 Cash at bank earns interest at a weighted-average rate of 0.0088% (2010: 0.0135%) per annum. 

 Fixed deposits earns interest rates ranging from 0.2500% to 0.6525% (2010: 0.2500% to 1.550%) per annum.

 At the statement of financial position date, the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximated 
their fair values.

5 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

   2011 2010
    $ $
  
  Grant receivables  20,875  48,756
  Outside parties  1,992  50,629
  Prepayments  4,507  357
  Accrued interests  22,330  16,526
   49,704  116,268

 At the statement of financial position date, the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables balances 
approximated their fair values.

6 INVENTORIES

   2011 2010
    $ $

  Closing stocks  139 157

 At the statement of financial position date, the carrying amounts of inventories approximated their fair values.
 
7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

   Balance b/f Additions (Disposals) Balance c/f
   S $ $ $
   2010   2011
  Cost
  Furniture and fittings  147,566  14,630  (4,008)  158,188
  Office equipment  157,297  75,804  (4,387)  228,714
  Computers  222,505  9,425  (4,339)  227,591
  Physio equipment  662  0  (2)  660
  Arts and music  94,486  1,095  (2,625)  92,956
  School building  8,126,991  0  0  8,126,991
  Building in progress  0  182,073  0  182,073
  Other equipment  193,040  9,791  0  202,831
  Renovations  54,941  21,799  0  76,740
   8,997,488  314,617  (15,361)  9,296,744
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7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

    Depreciation (Written
   Balance b/f Charge back/off) Balance c/f
   S $ $ $
   2010   2011
  Accumulated depreciation
  Furniture and fittings  128,465  9,119  (4,004)  133,580
  Office equipment  112,030  33,555  (4,385)  141,200
  Computers  126,810  50,983  (4,333)  173,460
  Physio equipment  659  0  0  659
  Arts and music  90,469  1,432  (2,622)  89,279
  School building  796,203  162,540  0  958,743
  Building in progress  0  0  0  0
  Other equipment  162,253  34,019  0  196,272
  Renovations  37,341  28,495  0  65,836
   1,454,230  320,143  (15,344)  1,759,029

   Balance b/f   Balance c/f
   S   $
   2010   2011
  Net book value
  Furniture and fittings  19,101    24,608
  Office equipment  45,267    87,514
  Computers  95,695    54,131
  Physio equipment  3    1
  Arts and music  4,017    3,677
  School building  7,330,788    7,168,248
  Building in progress  0    182,073
  Other equipment  30,787    6,559
  Renovations  17,600    10,904
   7,543,258    7,537,715

   Balance b/f Additions (Disposals) Balance c/f
   S $ $ $
   2009   2010
  Cost
  Furniture and fittings  136,456  13,725  (2,615)  147,566
  Office equipment  181,185  20,812  (44,700)  157,297
  Computers  78,982  143,523  0  222,505
  Physio equipment  662  0  0  662
  Arts and music  90,736  3,750  0  94,486
  School building  8,126,991  0  0  8,126,991
  Building in progress  0  0  0  0
  Other equipment  193,040  0  0  193,040
  Renovations  19,749  35,192  0  54,941
   8,827,801  217,002  (47,315)  8,997,488
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7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

    Depreciation (Written
   Balance b/f Charge back/off) Balance c/f
   S $ $ $
   2009   2010
  Accumulated depreciation
  Furniture and fittings  120,270  10,287  (2,092)  128,465
  Office equipment  114,533  24,317  (26,820)  112,030
  Computers  77,381  49,429  0  126,810
  Physio equipment  659  0  0  659
  Arts and music  88,416  2,053  0  90,469
  School building  633,663  162,540  0  796,203
  Building in progress  0  0  0  0
  Other equipment  100,071  62,182  0  162,253
  Renovations  9,874  27,467  0  37,341
   1,144,867  338,275  (28,912)  1,454,230

   Balance b/f   Balance c/f
   S   $
   2009   2010
  Net book value
  Furniture and fittings  16,186    19,101
  Office equipment  66,652    45,267
  Computers  1,601    95,695
  Physio equipment  3    3
  Arts and music  2,320    4,017
  School building  7,493,328    7,330,788
  Building in progress  0    0
  Other equipment  92,969    30,787
  Renovations  9,875    17,600
   7,682,934    7,543,258

8 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

   2011 2010
   $ $

  Fees received in advance  3,750  31,790
  Accrued operating expenses  190,093  134,920
  Deferred grants received  97,876  988
   291,719  167,698
  
 At the statement of financial position date, the carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximated their 

fair values.
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9 DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS

   2011 2010
    $ $
  Cost
  Balance at the beginning of the year  620,831  477,308
  Received during the year  0  143,523
  Balance at the end of the year  620,831  620,831

  Accumulated amortisation
  Balance at the beginning of the year  506,599  410,686
  Amortisation for the year  57,073  95,913
  Balance at the end of the year  563,672  506,599

  Net carrying amount
  Current  57,159  57,059
  Non-current  0  57,173
   57,159  114,232

  Comprised of:
  Grants from Government  9,310  18,542
  Grants from non-government  47,849  95,690
   57,159  114,232

 These amounts represent government grants and donations received from individuals and private organisations 
for the purchase and/or construction of property, plant and equipment. These grants and donations are amortised 
and recognised as income in proportion to the depreciation of the related assets.

10 ACCUMULATED GENERAL FUNDS

   2011 2010
    $ $

  Balance at the beginning of the year  5,621,013  4,305,569
  Surplus for the year  1,404,013  2,687,702
  Adjustments to grant funding  (125,797)  (28,408)
   6,899,229  6,964,863

  Transfers to reserved funds:
  Project fund  (351,003)  (537,540)
  Sinking fund  (351,003)  (268,770)
  Student assistance fund  (351,003)  (537,540)
  Balance at the end of the year  5,846,220  5,621,013

  Adjustments to grant funding is comprised of:
  NCSS grant (over) funding FY 2009/2010  (21,778)  0
  NCSS grant under funding FY 2008/2009  0  17,879
  TOTE Board (over) funding FY 2009/2010  (103,857)  0
  TOTE Board (over) funding FY 2008/2009  0  (46,287)
  Government grant – Jobs credit FY 2009/2010  (162)  0
   (125,797)  (28,408)
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11 PROJECT FUND

   2011 2010
    $ $

  Balance at the beginning of the year  894,719  357,179
  Transfer from accumulated funds  351,003  537,540
   1,245,722  894,719
  Expenditures during the year  (9,253)  0
  Balance at the end of the year  1,236,469  894,719
 
 This fund was approved by the School Management Committee to set aside for school building extension, school 

improvement and upgrading works, also for projects/programmes that will meet the needs of the pupils.
 
 Currently, the Annex Building is jointly funded from this project fund (5%) and by the Ministry of Education (95%).

12 SINKING FUND
   2011 2010
    $ $
  
  Balance at the beginning of the year  1,286,089  748,549
  Transfer from accumulated funds  351,003  537,540
  Balance at the end of the year  1,637,092  1,286,089

 The sinking fund was set up for major repairs and maintenance of the School’s building.

13 STUDENT ASSISTANCE FUND
   2011 2010
    $ $
  
  Balance at the beginning of the year  604,651  380,920
  Transfer from accumulated funds  351,003  268,770
   955,654  649,690
  Expenditures during the year  (54,474)  (45,039)
  Balance at the end of the year  901,180  604,651

 The student assistance fund was set up to provide financial assistance to pupils in need.
 
14 CURRICULUM ENHANCEMENT FUND
   2011 2010
    $ $
  
  Balance at the beginning of the year  1,159 0
  Grants received during the year  80,000  80,000
   81,159  80,000
  Expenditures during the year  (60,350)  (78,841)
  Balance at the end of the year  20,809  1,159

 This fund was set up to promote and sustain school-based initiatives in enhancing the quality of the school’s 
curriculum and co-curriculum.
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15 OPPORTUNITY FUND
   2011 2010
    $ $
  
  Balance at the beginning of the year  10,971 5,453
  Grants received during the year  10,972  14,526
   21,943  19,979
  Expenditures during the year  (5,940)  (9,008)
  Balance at the end of the year  16,003  10,971

 The opportunity fund is an initiative by MOE started in financial year ended 31 March 2007 allocating funds for 
students in need.

16 PROJECT RESERVES

   2011 2010
    $ $

  Balance at the beginning of the year  8,840  28,844
  Grants received during the year  0  0
   8,840  28,844
  Expenditures during the year  (8,840)  (20,004)
  Balance at the end of the year  0  8,840
 
 These reserves are contributions set aside for the School’s operation expenses and upgrading works. These reserves 

were fully expended during the year.

17 SCHOOL BUILDING FUND
   2011 2010
    $ $
  Cost
  Balance at the beginning of the year  8,113,244  8,113,244
  Received during the year  183,113  0
  Balance at the end of the year  8,296,357  8,113,244

  Accumulated amortisation
  Balance at the beginning of the year  795,653  633,388
  Amortisation for the year  163,304  162,265
  Balance at the end of the year  958,957  795,653

  Net carrying amount  7,337,400  7,317,591

  Comprised of:
  Grants from Government  4,727,888  4,658,235
  Grants from non-government  2,609,512  2,659,356
   7,337,400  7,317,591

 The school building fund was set up for the purpose of constructing the School’s building which was finished in year 
2005. Ninety (90%) percent of the cost was funded by the MOE and the other ten (10%) percent was by Metta 
Welfare Association, a related party.

 In financial year 2009, the School set up a training kitchen wherein 95% of the cost was funded by MOE and the 
other 5% by the School.
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18 SCHOOL BUILDING FUND - EXTENSION
   2011 2010
    $ $
  
  Balance at the beginning of the year  0  0
  Grants received during the year  168,810  0
   168,810  0
  Expenditures during the year  (167,822)  0
  Balance at the end of the year  988  0

 In the current financial year, the Annex Building is jointly funded by the School Project Fund (5%) and by the Ministry 
of Education (95%).

 
19 STAFF TRAINING VOTE FUND
   2011 2010
    $ $
  
  Balance at the beginning of the year  172,997  137,215
  Grants received during the year  88,550  84,425
   261,547  221,640
  Expenditures during the year  (89,036)  (48,643)
  Balance at the end of the year  172,511  172,997

 In financial year 2006, MOE solely funded this fund. A sum of S$1,100 is allocated for each staff to receive 
appropriate trainings in order to improve the quality of their services.

20 DESIGNATED DONATIONS

 Donations-in-kind received during the year are as follows: 

   2011 2010
    $ $
  
  School meals  7,000  0
  School uniforms and fees  0  5,000
  Art programmes / Performing arts  0  5,523
  Sports programmes  850  3,500
  Children’s Day celebration  3,052  0
  Teachers’ Day celebration  0  200
   10,902  14,223

21 INCOME TAX

 The School is one of the ten (10) welfare centres provided by Metta Welfare Association which is a registered 
charity under the Charities Act 1982 and is exempted from tax.
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22 SINGAPORE TOTALISATOR BOARD’S FUNDING

 The Singapore Totalisator Board funds students doing Vocational / Mainstream Secondary Curriculum. The balance 
of such funding is as follows:

   2011 2010
    $ $
  Receipts
  Donations  29  15
  School fees  13,820  13,200
   13,849  13,215
  Expenditures
  Communications  198  181
  Designated expenditures  438  521
  Depreciation  16,593  12,406
  Fixed asset written off  1  675
  Purchase of equipment and furniture  722  0
  Insurance  98  112
  Licence fees  4  4
  Maintenance  4,139  4,949
  Pupil welfare  3,588  505
  Professional fees and other services  2,109  1,202
  Pre-vocational program  22,302  15,979
  Recruitment  133  29
  Rental of equipment  123  142
  Supplies and materials  13,235  9,058
  School functions  4,133  1,804
  Security guards  2,639  453
  Salaries and allowances  173,608  112,336
  Staff welfare  5,114  1,655
  Transport claims  524  120
  Utilities  4,816  3,451
   254,517  165,582

  (Deficit) for the year  (240,668)  (152,367)

  Grants received during the year  273,594  192,966
  Grant receivable - 4th quarter  0  58,134
  Grant receivable - 2% retention  5,584  5,124
   279,178  256,224

  Net surplus for the year after grants received  32,926  40,599
  Accumulated funds at the beginning of the year  40,599  46,287
  Adjustments made during the year  (40,599)  (46,287)
  Accumulated funds at the end of the year  32,926  40,599
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23 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 The School had transactions with Metta Welfare Association on terms agreed between the parties as follows:

    2011 2010
    $ $
  
  Management fee paid to Metta Welfare Association  (20,550)  0

  Reimbursement of expenses paid:
  - By the School for Metta Welfare Association  (974)  653
  - By Metta Welfare Association for the School  (17,198)  (5,757)

 Rental of Land

 The rental expense of the School is fully funded by MOE. The School has given consent that the funding will be 
remitted directly to Metta Welfare Association. Hence, such expenses and the corresponding grants are not 
recognised in the School’s statement of financial activities and instead in Metta Welfare Association’s accounts.

 The rental expense and income recognised by Metta Welfare Association amounts to S$449,604 (2010: S$399,024).

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 The School’s activities expose it to minimal financial risks and overall risk management is determined and carried 
out by the Management Committee on an informal basis.

(i)  Liquidity risk
 
 The School manages its liquidity risk by monitoring and maintaining a level of cash and bank balances 

deemed adequate by the Management Committee to fund the School’s operations.

(ii)  Credit risk
 
 The School has minimal exposure to credit risks due to the nature of its activities.

(iii)  Interest rate risk

 The School’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available in the market. Surplus funds are 
placed with reputable banks.

 The responsibility for managing the above risks is vested in the Management Committee.

 Fair values

 The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements of the School 
approximate their fair values due to their short term nature.

25 MANAGEMENT OF RESERVES

 The School regards its accumulated general fund as its reserves. The School’s reserve policy requires it to maintain sufficient 
 reserve to ensure long term financial sustainability and continuity for the purpose of operating effective programs.

26 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

 The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 were audited by a firm of auditors other than 
Messrs Fiducia LLP. The audit opinion issued for the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 
was unqualified.

27 AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Management 
Committee on 4 August 2011.
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